Western Kentucky University TopSCHOLAR®

Masters Theses & Specialist Projects

Graduate School

7-1976

An Examination of the Jefferson County Readiness Test as a Predictor of Readiness & Achievement

Phyllis Reinstedler Western Kentucky University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/theses
Part of the Student Counseling and Personnel Services Commons

Recommended Citation

Reinstedler, Phyllis, "An Examination of the Jefferson County Readiness Test as a Predictor of Readiness & Achievement" (1976). *Masters Theses & Specialist Projects*. Paper 2745. https://digitalcommons.wku.edu/theses/2745

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by TopSCHOLAR^{*}. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses & Specialist Projects by an authorized administrator of TopSCHOLAR^{*}. For more information, please contact topscholar@wku.edu.

Reinstedler,

Phyllis

AN EXAMINATION OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY READINESS TEST AS A PREDICTOR OF READINESS AND ACHIEVEMENT

A Project Presented to the Faculty of the Department of Counselor Education Western Kentucky University Bowling Green, Kentucky

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Educational Specialist Degree

> by Phyllis Reinstedler July, 1976

Copyright Phyllis Reinstedler 1976

AN EXAMINATION OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY READINESS TEST AS A PREDICTOR OF READINESS AND ACHIEVEMENT

Recommended June 16, 1976 (Date) Director of Thesis Emmett D. Burkeen

Approved 8-25-75 (Date) Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to express her appreciation to the individuals who helped make this study possible. With gratitude, I would like to thank Dr. Stephen Schnacke, my project committee chairman, and the members of my committee, Dr. Emmett Burkeen, Dr. Ronald Adams, and Dr. Robert Simpson. The encouragement and guidance of the members of my committee have been invaluable in the completion of this study.

I would also like to thank the Jefferson County Board of Education for allowing the study to be completed. My thanks are extended to Mr. Joseph R. Bishop, Miss Marguerite Lewis, Mr. John Salyer, and Mr. Howard Downing, principals of the schools participating in the study. Sincere thanks are also extended to Miss Beverly Tolleson, Mrs. Erma Colyer, and Mrs. Grace Skaggs, counselors in the three schools of Phase II. They were extremely helpful in collecting data.

A special note of appreciation is extended to Mrs. Gladys Murray, Mrs. Judy Cantrell, and Mrs. Norma Price, the teachers who participated in Phase I of the study. Without their cooperation Phase I data would not have been available.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNO	WLEDGMENTS					Page
LIST	OF TABLES					vi
a .						
Chapt I.	INTRODUCTION	•			•	1
	Statement of Problem					3
	Purpose of the Study					3
	Definition of Terms					4
	Limitations of the Study	•	•	•	•	7
II.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE		•	•	•	10
	The History and Concept of Readiness .					10
	Factors which Predict Readiness and					
	Achievement				•	14
	Metropolitan Readiness - Normative Data	•	•	•	•	25
	Jefferson County Readiness Test	•	•	•	•	26
	Summary	•	•	•	•	28
III.	METHODS AND PROCEDURES	•	•	•	•	29
	Definition of Population					29
	Selection of Subjects					29
	Instrumentation					31
	Implementation Phase I					36
	Implementation by readiness teacher .					36
	Implementation by regular teachers .					37
	Testing					37
	Implementation Phase II					38
	Analysis of Data	•	•	•	•	39
IV.	RESULTS			•	•	40
	Phase I Analysis					40
	Comparison Data					41
	Additional Comparison Data					45
	Summary of Phase I					48
	Phase II Analysis					49
	Comparison Data					50
	Correlation Data					53

Regre	ession Data - Reading Achievement	56
Regre	ession Data - Mathematics Achievement	57
Summa	ry of Phase II	59
Discu	ission	60
V. SUMMARY	, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	65
Summa	ary of the Study	65
Concl	usions for Phase I	68
Concl	usions for Phase II	69
Recom	mendations	70
	DIRECTIONS FOR ADMINISTERING AND SCORING JEFFERSON COUNTY SCHOOLS READINESS TESTS .	74
APPENDIX B.	PERCEPTIONS OF READINESS CHECKLIST	85
APPENDIX C.	COLLECTION OF DATA FORM	87
APPENDIX D.	DATA SUMMARY SHEET	89
APPENDIX E.	INTERCORRELATION MATRIX FOR PHASE I	91
APPENDIX F.	MULTIPLE REGRESSION ANALYSES FOR PHASE II.	95
REFERENCES .		99

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Means and Standard Deviations of the Jefferson County Readiness Test Subtests	42
2	Means and Standard Deviations of the Metropolitan Readiness Subtests	42
3	Correlation of JCRT and Metropolitan Readiness Test	44
4	Correlations of the JCRT and Other Selected Variables	46
5	Means and Standard Deviations of Selected Variables in Phase II	51
6	Means of Tests Given - Grouped by JCRT Scores	52
7	Intercorrelation Matrix for Phase II	54
8	Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Reading Raw Scores	56
9	Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Reading Raw Scores with Metropolitan Mathematics Excluded	57
10	Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Mathematics Raw Scores	58
11	Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Mathematics Raw Scores with Metropolitan Reading Excluded.	59

AN EXAMINATION OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY READINESS TEST AS A PREDICTOR OF READINESS AND ACHIEVEMENT

Phyllis Rein:	stedler	July, 1976		102 pages		
Directed by:	Stephen Simpson	Schnacke, Emmett and Ronald Adams	Burkeen,	Robert		

Department of Counselor Education Western Kentucky University

The Jefferson County Readiness Test, a locally developed readiness test, has been in use in the Jefferson County, Kentucky elementary schools for seventeen years. This test had not been standardized and few studies were available to support its use. The JCRT was studied to determine if the test was a valid predictor of readiness and achievement. Phase I of the study was designed to study the JCRT as a predictor of readiness. Beginning first year students in one elementary school were selected and JCRT scores, Metropolitan Readiness Test scores, and teachers' perceptions of readiness were collected for each child. Results of Phase I found the JCRT to be a concurrently valid and internally reliable predictor of readiness. Phase II of the study was designed to determine the value of the JCRT as a predictor of post first grade achievement. Data were collected for third year students in three Jefferson County elementary schools. Data included JCRT scores, Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test scores, Metropolitan Achievement Test scores, and demographic data. Multilinear regression analyses were computed to determine what factors best

predicted achievement. Intelligence was found to be the best predictor of both reading and mathematics achievement. The JCRT was not found to be a major predictor of post first grade achievement.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The initial question to be answered when a child enters school is "Is the child ready to begin formal instruction?" Teachers and other school personnel must find some valid and reliable means of determining whether each child is indeed ready to begin formal instruction.

One commonly used tool for predicting educational readiness and more specifically reading readiness is the readiness test. For approximately thirty years, schools have been using readiness tests to determine a child's preparation for learning. Barrett (1971) reported, in a study conducted by Austin and Morrison, that more than eighty percent of the schools in the nation which were contacted used a reading readiness test.

There are numerous commercially developed readiness tests that measure a variety of skills which may determine readiness. However, no two tests measure exactly the same factors. Further, a more basic problem is that it is not known exactly which specific factors are prerequisites for educational readiness. Some tests measure visual and auditory perception; others measure the child's vocabulary or numerical knowledge; and still other tests measure such

skills as motor coordination or knowledge of the alphabet. Currently, no test measures all the factors needed for the child to be considered ready to begin formal instruction.

Theoretically, readiness tests when used as the sole factor cannot determine a child's readiness. However, when combined with teacher ratings and observations, they are usually a more reliable determinant of readiness than when used alone (Livo, 1970). Teacher observation of behavior has long been recognized as a means of predicting readiness. The teacher is able to observe visually the child's social and emotional readiness, something which cannot be adequately assessed by a readiness test. Therefore, it appears that the most empirically sound techniques available in the prediction of readiness have evolved through both testing and observation.

Readiness tests not only help determine readiness, but also may be useful in predicting later school achievement. Educators agree that reading readiness is the foremost phase of the beginning reading program (Barrett, 1971). Children who are ready to begin formal instruction have a better chance of later success than those who are not.

Most of the readiness tests which are used by schools are standardized and accompanied by national norms. The tests are administered to the child either at the end of kindergarten or upon entry to the first grade. Typically these tests have been field tested and have some degree of reliability and validity in the prediction of readiness and achievement.

The Jefferson County, Kentucky Public Schools do not

use a standardized readiness test. Rather, the readiness test being used in the Jefferson County elementary schools is a locally developed test. The specific purpose of this study is to examine the Jefferson County Readiness Test with regard to its validity and reliability as a predictor of readiness.

Statement of Problem

The present study was made to determine if a locally developed readiness test, the Jefferson County Readiness Test, was a valuable tool for predicting readiness. This test has not been rigorously standardized; furthermore, little, if any, data have existed to show its validity or reliability in the prediction of readiness or achievement.

The specific problems investigated in this study were twofold. They were: (1) To determine the validity of the Jefferson County Readiness Test in predicting readiness and (2) To determine the predictive value of the Jefferson County Readiness Test and other selected variables on elementary school achievement.

Purpose of the Study

One of the purposes of this study was to determine the validity of the Jefferson County Readiness Test. This test is an instrument developed by the Jefferson County school system and has been used as a measure of readiness. However, this test has not been standardized and few studies have been conducted to determine its ability to measure readiness.

The Jefferson County Readiness Test is purported to

be similar to the Metropolitan Readiness Test but is considered shorter and easier to administer. A comparison of the two testing instruments was made in an effort to determine the validity of the local test. In addition to this comparison the study was designed to determine if first year teachers' perceptions correlated with the scores on the two test instruments. Phase I of the study was conducted with beginning first year students in one Jefferson County elementary school.

The purpose of the second phase of the study was to determine whether the Jefferson County Readiness Test could be used as a post first grade predictor of elementary school achievement. The study also attempted to determine the relationship of other selected variables to post first grade achievement. These predictor variables included Jefferson County Readiness Test scores, Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test scores, sex, age, school, parent occupation, broken home, and readiness room enrollment. The individual and combined effects of these variables on achievement as measured by the Metropolitan Achievement Test were studied.

Definition of Terms

In the forthcoming sections of this study, the following terms have been used. The definitions of these terms have been listed as they apply to this study.

<u>Achievement</u> -- Achievement is the child's accumulated academic skills. Thus, achievement tests purport to measure the total academic skills learned by the child. Achievement

in this study was measured by the Metropolitan Achievement Test.

<u>Collection of Data Form</u> (Phase I) -- The form used to compile all data needed for Phase I of the study.

Data Summary Sheet (DSS) -- Form used to collect data on third year students in Phase II of the study.

<u>First Year</u> -- Jefferson County uses the word year to replace grade. The first year comprises four levels.

<u>Jefferson County Readiness Test</u> (JCRT) -- The Jefferson County, Kentucky school system developed readiness test which was administered to first year students. The test consisted of four subtests: matching, numbers, copying and sentence meaning.

Levels 1-4 -- The four levels of first year in Jefferson County, Kentucky Schools. Level one is the readiness level. A child begins formal reading in level two. A child must finish all four levels to be promoted to second year.

Mental Ability -- Mental ability as used in this study referred to scholastic aptitude. Tests of mental ability measure abilities which are important for success in academic settings where emphasis is placed upon the abstract ideas expressed in verbal, numerical, figural, or symbolic form. Mental ability in this study was measured by the Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test.

<u>Mental Age Concept</u> -- The concept of a child reaching a certain mental age or level of mental development before he is ready to begin formal education.

Metropolitan Achievement Test - The Elementary

<u>Battery</u> -- The achievement test administered to third year students. This test was the criterion variable for Phase II of the study. The total reading and total mathematics scores were the scores used in this study. The Metropolitan Achievement Tests were published by Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc.

<u>Metropolitan Readiness Test - Form A</u> -- A standardized readiness test to which the JCRT was compared. The MRT consisted of six subtests: word meaning, listening, matching, alphabet, numbers, and copying. Metropolitan Readiness Tests were published by Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc.

Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test - Form J -- Mental ability test administered to second year students. The score on this test was used as one of the predictor variables for achievement. The Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test was published by Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc.

<u>Perceptions of Readiness</u> (POR) -- Checklist used by classroom teachers to ascertain readiness in Phase I of the study. The checklist included ten items.

<u>Phase I</u> -- The section of the study which correlated the Jefferson County Readiness Test with the Metropolitan Readiness Test and teachers' perceptions of readiness. Phase I was designed to determine whether the JCRT was a predictor of readiness.

<u>Phase II</u> -- The section of the study designed to determine what factors predicted achievement and more specifically if the JCRT was a predictor of achievement.

<u>Reading Readiness</u> -- Readiness to begin formal reading instruction.

<u>Readiness</u> -- Readiness for formal educational instruction as pertained to first year students.

<u>Teacher Perceptions</u> -- Observations made by participating teachers to determine a child's readiness to begin formal instruction.

<u>Visual Discrimination</u> -- The ability of a child to see likenesses and differences in shapes, letters, and words.

Limitations of the Study

Limitations of this study included lack of control, data collection using variables which were measured two and three years prior to the actual study, sample sizes, the ability to generalize the results, and the threat of a lack of internal consistency produced by the possible effects of mandated change within the school system.

A lack of control within the study existed to the degree that data were collected from previously administered instruments. All of the test scores in Phase II of the study reflected results which were computed on instruments administered by classroom teachers who were unaware of the study. Therefore, there existed the possibility that all directions were not correctly given by the teachers or fully understood by the students. Also, time limits on the mental ability test and achievement test may not have been adhered to properly. Furthermore, because Phase II was an ex post facto design, inherent limitations were present. That is, previously collected data were utilized to predict current levels of achievement.

The sample size was small in both phases of the study. Phase I sampled all of the beginning first year students in one Jefferson County elementary school. This sample included approximately 80 children and three teachers. This limitation existed because the design of the study required additional data, making it necessary to complete additional testing and teacher ratings. Because of the need for this information and the lack of available help to complete this information, only the school most easily accessible to the researcher was used for the sample in Phase I.

Phase II of the study was sampling third year students in three schools. This sample included approximately 175 children from the three schools. There are 102 elementary schools in Jefferson County but only twenty-nine schools had all the necessary test data for third year students. Although the sample was small, an attempt was made to select schools in varied socio-economic areas and with varied academic achievement levels. One of the schools selected was in a high socio-economic area, one in a middle, and one in a low socio-economic area.

Jefferson County Readiness Tests are given only to beginning first year students in Jefferson County. As a result, it was not possible to generalize the results of the

study beyond the students in the Jefferson County system.

Considerable change has taken place in the Jefferson County School system since April, 1975. During the spring of 1975, the Louisville and Jefferson County school systems were merged. In addition, a county-wide desegregation order was mandated by the courts. Although first year students were not involved in the busing plan, a considerable number of parents did not enroll their children in school on opening day. There was a decrease of estimated enrollment plus the added factor of late enrollment of some students two to three weeks after school started. The decrease of enrollment caused the one school in Phase I to lose one first year teacher. Attendance was low on some days because of a planned protest or boycott. All of these factors may have had some influence upon the results of Phase I of the study.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The review of literature for this study has included the history and concept of readiness; factors which predict readiness and achievement, including readiness, intelligence, socio-economic variables, and teacher ratings; normative data on the Metropolitan Readiness Test; and the Jefferson County Readiness Test.

The History and Concept of Readiness

Concern in this study has focused on readiness to learn by formal instruction. Research pertaining to the concept of readiness has generally referred to reading readiness. Therefore, the history and concepts reported in this review have been necessarily concerned with reading readiness.

The concept of readiness came into being when educators started questioning whether a child should begin reading when he starts school. Studies of the 1920's and 1930's generally focused upon this issue. The results of these early studies showed a large number of children were failing first grade, most often because of poor reading achievement (Holmes, 1927).

Early research also focused upon developmental stages, neural development and readiness. Research by Myrtle McGraw studied the effect of practice on the development of motor

skills during infancy. Twin boys were used in the study. One twin was given practice in motor skills, while the other twin was not. Results led McGraw to conclude that practice does not hasten the developmental processes (McGraw, 1935). McGraw surmized from this study that neural ripening did not appear to be effected by practice.

The results of motor development studies were also used to describe and even to explain the development of intellectual skills. Resulting from this theory was the idea, accepted by the progressive education movement, that time is the remedy for a lack of readiness to learn (Durkin, 1971).

Durkin (1971) explained the concept of readiness accepted during the early 20th century.

Since the ability to read was associated with a particular stage of development, a "logical" conclusion was to interpret a child's problems with beginning reading as a sign that he had not yet reached that stage and was "unready" for reading. And so was born the concept <u>reading readiness</u>. If progress from one successive stage to another is thought to depend upon factors described, at various times, as spontaneous maturation, intrinsic growth, neural ripening, and unfolding behavior, then it is also "logical" to conclude that the solution for beginning reading problems is to delay instruction on the assumption that the passing of time will automatically result in "readiness" and; therefore, in successful reading. And so was born the idea of having reading readiness programs at the start of first grade. (p. 23)

Another idea which won the attention of educators of the 1920's and 1930's was the mental age concept of readiness. At that time, there was an enthusiasm for objective measurement which resulted in many group intelligence tests (Thorndike, R.L. and Hagen, E., 1961). The use of intelligence tests was concerned with when reading instruction should begin. Researchers in the 1920's seemed to move toward proposals of a certain mental age level for beginning reading instruction (Arthur, 1925).

The Morphett and Washburne study of 1931 proposed a mental age of 6.5 as a prerequisite for success in beginning reading (Morphett, M.V. and Washburne, C., 1931). Their findings implied the need to postpone formal reading and their concept received quick support from educators.

Durkin (1971) in her book, <u>Teaching Them to Read</u>, sums up the four ideas concerning readiness that evolved in the 1920's and 1930's.

- 1. Readiness for reading occurs at a given stage in the development of a child, and this stage occurs with the passing of time.
- Readiness for reading requires a mental age level of 6.5 years.
- 3. Tests can measure a child's readiness to learn to read.
- Readiness programs help prepare a child for reading, either by allowing more time to pass or by teaching him skills that will help him learn to read. (pp. 27-28)

Prominent educators continued to support the theories of human development which described readiness in terms of levels of maturation. Thus, the <u>unfolding behavior</u> doctrine was espoused for many years by such leaders as W.H. Kilpatrick (Kilpatrick, 1965).

One of the few who did not agree was Gates. Gates (Gates, Bond and Russell, 1939) stressed that readiness did not depend on mental age but on the nature of the reading program. In one report, Gates concluded that "the optimum time of beginning reading is not entirely dependent upon the nature of the child himself, but it is in a large measure determined by the nature of the reading program" (Gates and Bond, 1936, p. 684).

The rapid change in educational theory and technology of the 1960's had a concomitant effect on the concept of readiness. Durkin (1971) summed up the present day concept of readiness.

> Currently the literature still shows some remnants of the maturational concept of readiness, but as a whole, articles and books are now dominated by the opposite conception highlighting the contribution of environmental factors. In terms of the naturenurture debate, today the spotlight is on nurture, and so, quite typically, nature is under-emphasized. One result is that educators and psychologists stress the benefits to be derived from earlier instruction generally ignoring the possibility that there might be some children for whom later teaching - even later that the age of six - would be more productive in the long run. (p. 37)

To this point, the historical development of the concept of readiness has been studied, but a definition of readiness has not been given. Three definitions of readiness follow.

Durkin (1971) states "current knowledge indicates that a child's readiness to learn to read - or, more generally, his capacity for learning - is the product both of maturation (nature) and of environmental factors (nurture)" (p. 38).

Miles A. Tinker (1952) defines readiness in the following terms:

A child is ready to read when he has attained a certain stage of mental maturity, and possesses a background of experience and the personal and social adjustment which makes it possible for him to progress at a normal rate in learning to read when exposed to good classroom teaching. (p. 24)

Albert J. Harris (1974) states:

Reading readiness may be defined as a state of general maturity which, when reached, allows a child to read without excess difficulty. It is a composite of many interconnected traits. A child may be more advanced in some aspects of reading readiness than in others. The major characteristics which are important in reading readiness are age, sex, general intelligence, visual and auditory perception, physical health and maturity, freedom from directional confusion, background of experience, comprehension and use of oral English, emotional and social adjustment, and interest in reading. (p. 21)

While no single universally accepted definition of readiness has existed, common agreement does exist among educators that reading readiness is the foremost phase of the beginning reading program in the elementary school. "Many people feel that a child's success in learning to read depends to a great extent upon whether the child was ready when he began formal reading activities" (Barrett, 1971, p. 35). Reading readiness has been and continues to be an important part of the reading program, and therefore, determining the readiness of each child is a principle element of the introductory reading program.

Factors which Predict Readiness and Achievement

Loisanne P. Bilka (1971) conducted a study to determine the predictive value of readiness tests. Five readiness measures were administered at the beginning of first grade, and the Stanford Achievement Test was administered at the end of grades one, two and three. The following findings were reported. Significant relationships existed between the predictor variables (readiness measures) and the criterion variables of reading achievement. Correlation between prediction and achievement did not drop significantly from grade to grade; and sex, mental age and instructional method did influence the prediction accuracy.

Bilka also found, in her study of the predictive value of readiness instruments, the Metropolitan Readiness Test and the Murphy Durrell Readiness Test to be the best predictors of achievement. The factor loadings indicated for the MRT were +.97 at grade one, +.92 at grade 2, and +.97 at grade 3. Three of the Metropolitan subtests (Word Meaning, Numbers, Alphabet) exhibited high factor loadings for all three grades. The Word Meaning subtest and the Alphabet subtest appear to be the strongest predictors. The three remaining subtests did not greatly contribute to prediction of achievement.

Bilka also reported that the tests of significance showed correlations did not drop significantly from grade to grade. "Therefore, the ability to predict third grade reading achievement was almost as accurate as prediction in first grade" (Bilka, 1971, p. 8). Factors of sex, mental age, and method did seem to influence the ability to predict reading achievement. The Metropolitan seemed to be a more accurate predictor for girls than boys, for high mental age children in comparison to low mental age children, and for children taught through the Basal approach in comparison to children taught through the Integrated Experience approach.

Norma J. Livo (1970) conducted a study the purpose of which was to determine what scores from the <u>Wechsler Pre-</u> <u>school and Primary Scale of Intelligence</u> (WPPSI), the <u>Sartain</u> <u>Reading Readiness Test</u> (SRRT), and the <u>Oral Language Sample</u> would be the most successful in predicting mid-year first grade achievement. The researcher reported the SRRT provided the highest simple correlation with total reading scores, producing an R=+.60. The SRRT also had a correlation of +.60 with the WPPSI Full Scale Intelligence Quotient.

Livo concluded the following:

With the existing state of knowledge concerning reading readiness for beginning readers, it is suggested that a good reading readiness test, such as the Sartain Reading Readiness Test coupled with wise teacher judgment, good classroom atmosphere, and individualized teaching for special needs of the pupils would combine to produce an efficient and effective set of factors in the assessment of readiness for beginning reading and prediction of success in beginning reading. (p. 129)

Bliesmer (1951) found that correlations between reading readiness scores and measures of early reading success normally fall between +.50 and +.60.

Bremer (1959) reported a correlation of +.40 between Metropolitan Readiness Test scores at beginning of first grade and the Gray-Votaw-Rogers General Achievement Test scores obtained at the beginning of second grade. He concluded reading readiness tests could not be used to predict reading achievement with any degree of accuracy.

Jack Bagford (1968) conducted a study to determine whether readiness tests were predictors of later school achievement. He offered the following conclusions:

- Reading readiness test scores are significantly related to later success in reading. Students who score well on reading readiness tests in kindergarten and first grade tend to score well on reading achievement tests in grades four, five and six.
- Reading readiness test scores are as related to later success in reading as they are with early success. The data suggest that the relationships between readiness test scores and measures of early success in reading do not decrease significantly as children progress through school. (p. 328)

Karlin (1957) found readiness test scores show only a small relationship to reading achievement. From data based research, Karlin concluded that it is not possible to predict from the reading readiness test score how well the child will do on a reading achievement test.

Samuel Weintraub (1967) concluded that readiness and intelligence tests have most commonly served as predictors of learning success. According to Weintraub, readiness tests tend to correlate between +.40 and +.60 with later measures of reading achievement, while intelligence tests revealed even lower correlations. Furthermore, the predictive value appeared to be most useful in identifying those children at each tail of the normal curve, that is, those who will probably succeed and those who will probably fail (p. 551).

Weintraub further reported that some of the subtests were better predictors of later achievement than others. Kingston (1962) and McCall (1965) reported the numbers subtest of readiness tests has been found to correlate better with reading achievement than any of the other subtests. Barrett (1965) reported that various measures of visual discrimination have for some time been identified as at least as good a predictor of reading achievement as readiness tests.

Morrison (1972) stated that commercially prepared readiness tests alone do not as yet yield data which could be used as the basis for prediction of future reading achievement.

Pikulski (1973) conducted a study to determine if reading readiness was a predictor of sixth grade reading achievement. Findings showed a high correlation between reading readiness tests and reading achievement scores six years later. Pikulski also stated that readiness measures tend to predict both first and sixth grade reading achievement better for children instructed with an integrated language arts approach than for children given basal instruction.

Panther (1967) conducted a study to investigate the validity of various tests for predicting reading readiness of first grade students. Tests used were the Lorge-Thorndike Intelligence Tests, Level 1, Form 2; the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test, Form B; the Rutgers Drawing Test, Form A; the Goodenough-Harris Drawing Test; and the Lee-Clark Reading Readiness Test. All tests except the Lee-Clark were administered in the last month of kindergarten. The Lee-Clark Readiness Test was given the first month of first grade. The Metropolitan Achievement Test, Primary I Battery was used as the criterion variable. Three of the tests yielded correlation coefficients at the .01 level of significance. These three tests were the Lee-Clark Readiness Test,+.66; Lorge-Thorndike Intelligence Test-Raw Scores, +.49, I.Q., +.47;

and Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test - Raw Score, +.47; I.Q., +.53. The Goodenough-Harris Drawing Test, +.34, showed a correlation coefficient at the .05 level of significance (p. 46). Panther concluded the Lee-Clark was among the most valid predictors of reading achievement.

Shea (1968) developed the Visual Discrimination Word Test to be used to determine readiness. The Visual Discrimination Word Test was compared with the Lorge-Thorndike Intelligence Test - Level 1, Form A, and the reading readiness portion of the Metropolitan Reading Readiness Test, Form R. Shea found that the Lorge-Thorndike and the Visual Discrimination Test measure different aspects of reading readiness in relationship to the criterion variable, a word recognition test; while the MRT and the Lorge-Thorndike measure much the same thing. Shea concluded that both visual discrimination and intelligence were factors in determining a child's readiness to read. However, neither of these factors was the sole factor that should be used when assessing reading readiness.

Hammill and Wiederholt (1971) conducted a study to determine the appropriateness of the Metropolitan Tests for culturally deprived, urban children. The following findings and conclusions were reported:

> The items were found to be much too difficult, for only 35% of the MRT and 21% of the MAT items possessed acceptable levels of both difficulty and validity.

One may conclude from these data that when attempting to measure the achievement of urban children, tests other than the Metropolitan should be considered. Particular attention needs to be paid to item difficulty; for when the test is too difficult, the children tend to become frustrated, uncooperative and defeatist in their attitude. While such behavior may not affect the reliability of most subtests, it is a factor to consider when selecting measures for school testing programs or research projects. (p. 50)

Goodman and Wiederholt (1973) reported that the MRT was not an adequate predictor of first year achievement when used with inner city Negro kindergarten students.

Rude (1973) completed an analysis of five reading readiness tests to determine what skills were measured. The skills measured by subtests on each of the readiness tests were compared to the Venezky and Jeffrey-Samuels pre-reading skills list. The subtests of each test were categorized to determine whether they measured grapheme perception, left-toright visual scan, understanding of grapheme-phoneme relationships, and phoneme blending.

Rude reported the following findings:

Only eight of the twenty-nine battery subjects can be classified unequivocally as measuring the four specified pre-reading skills. Nine other subtests measure the four skills in a less straightforward manner and were therefore classified as subordinate measures that is, they could be construed as measuring the skill but only in limited manner.

Most striking is the fact that twelve of the twentynine total subtests measured abilities other than the four identified prereading skills considered necessary for competent reading. Interesting too is the fact that grapheme perception is the most frequently assessed skill, followed by left-to-right visual scan, graphemephoneme relationships and phoneme blending. Evidently, the latter two skills are not deemed important, are difficult to assess, or have been overlooked by reading and measurement specialists. (p. 577)

Robinson and Hanson (1968) tested the reliability of measures of reading achievement. The authors were concerned with the measurement of achievement at different socio-economic levels. These researchers concluded that there were some highly reliable standardized instruments which measure selected factors related to reading success or failure. The Metropolitan Readiness Test was found to be reliable with all groups tested; reliability coefficients ranged from +.85 to +.95 for the Metropolitan Readiness Tests.

Lowell (1971) conducted a study to determine the effectiveness of various factors in predicting first year achievement at the pre-primer level and at the end of first grade. Factors studied were visual discrimination, auditory discrimination, visual memory, knowledge of alphabet letter names, concepts, word learning ability and mental ability. Lowell found knowledge of alphabet letter names the only one of these factors with correlations high enough to predict first year achievement. The correlation for knowledge of alphabet names was +.65 at the pre-primer level and +.63 at the end of first grade. He concluded this factor to be the only one of those studied valuable enough to be included on a readiness test.

A report by Mitchell (1962) studied the predictive value of the MRT to the Metropolitan Achievement Test. The study showed the MRTs to be good predictors of first grade learning. Correlations of Total Readiness score as a predictor with achievement on each of the four subtests of the Metropolitan Achievement Tests as the criteria range from +.51 to +.63. No significant differences were found

between boys and girls or between white and Negro pupils. Mitchell (1967), in a later study, reported the correlations were not significantly different for Negro and white pupils.

Forr and Anastasiow (1969) reported the MRT to be a good predictor. The test was found to be best for a middle class suburban population and relatively good for middle class non-suburban populations. The researchers cautioned that test scores should be interpreted with great care with lower socioeconomic, rural, and southern areas.

Olson and Rosen (1971) reported the MRT to provide limited contributions to the prediction of reading achievement.

Proger, McGowan, Bayuk, and Mann (1971) conducted a study to determine the relative predictive and construct validities of the Otis Lennon, Lorge-Thorndike, and Metropolitan Readiness Tests. They also obtained Teacher Ratings in selected subject areas. The criterion variable was the Stanford Achievement Test. Proger et al. reported the Otis Lennon to be a more valid predictor of SAT scores than the Lorge-Thorndike when used at the second grade level. At the fourth grade level, the Otis Lennon was a slightly more valid predictor than the Lorge-Thorndike, although the differences were not as marked as in second year.

In relationship to Teacher Ratings, the following results were reported:

The best single predictor of TR: Reading Comprehension was the MRT in second grade $(R_2=,59)$ and the OL-MAT in fourth grade $(R_4=,71)$. For TR: Arithmetic Computation, the best single predictor in second grade was the OL-MAT $(R_2=,56)$ and in the

fourth grade was the L-T IT Nonverbal test $(R_{4}=.53)$. Finally, the L-T IT Verbal test was the best single predictor for the fourth grade TR: Arithmetic Concepts $(R_{4}=.61)$ and for fourth grade TR: Arithmetic Applications $(R_{4}=.62)$. (p. 537)

Research studies have indicated teacher judgment to be an important factor in determining readiness and achievement. A study of Zaruba (1968) reported results comparing readiness measures and teacher evaluation to first year achievement. Findings indicated that of the three measures used, letter recognition, drawing a man, and subjective appraisal, the letter recognition measure had the greatest value for predicting first grade reading success as measured by teacher evaluation. Zaruba also reported a high relationship between teacher evaluation and scores on the Stanford Achievement Test. The relationship was especially high for the children whom the teacher had rated above or below average. The researcher concluded that teacher appraisal based on multiple data is a valuable tool in evaluating readiness and achievement.

Tyler (1956) stated that since IQ tests were originally constructed for predicting academic performance and since this continues to be the major use of IQ tests, we would expect them to correlate positively with school grades. Tyler found the correlation to be about +.50.

According to Travers (1949), the shorter the time period between IQ testing and the giving of grades the greater the prediciton. IQ measured in the first grade has been found to correlate only +.21 with college grades. The results of a study by Hatcher and Felker (1974) indicated that intelligence and divergent thinking variables were highly related with reading and that intelligence and flexibility were generally predictive of reading achievement.

Jackson (1972), in a study of personality factors affecting achievement, found only the intelligence personality factor to be significant at the .05 level.

Byrne (1966) reported that the controversy of heredity and environment has been taken over by a concern of how all factors work to form one's IQ. He reported the following concerning IQ:

> Considerable evidence also exists that the higher the occupational level of fathers, the higher the IQ of their offspring. Positive relationships are also found between IQ and socio-economic class of parents, upward social mobility of parents, value of home rentals in the child's neighborhood, and per capita income in the city in which he lives. When children are isolated from normal environmental stimulation in infancy and childhood a negative influence on IQ occurs. Environmental enrichment has the opposite effect; a positive influence on IQ has been found with respect to well-educated parents, and attendance of nursery school, high quality elementary schools, and college. (p. 431-432)

In a study of pupil and family characteristics conducted by Callaway (1972) it was found that females were significantly higher than males in achievement at the fourth grade level. When IQ was a covariate the differences were less but still significant. At the seventh grade level, sex was significant only when IQ was a covariate; then females achieved significantly higher than males. The study also found that occupation of parents made no significant difference in reading achievement in either grade. Jantz (1974) made the following conclusions in regard to reading achievement: (1) females were significantly higher than males, (2) whites were higher than non-whites, (3) higher socio-economic levels scored better than lower levels, and (4) upper IQ groupings were higher than lower IQ groupings for performance levels in reading.

Metropolitan Readiness--Normative Data

The Manual of Directions for the Metropolitan Readiness Test, Form A, is published by Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc. The following results were reported in the manual concerning validity and reliability of the test (pp. 12-15).

When total scores of the MRT were compared with the Murphy-Durrell Reading Readiness Analysis (Revised Edition) total scores, the correlation was +.80. The correlations between the subtests were not high except for the alphabet test of the MRT compared with the letter naming subtest of the Murphy-Durrell. This correlation was +.85.

When the MRT was compared with the Pintner-Cunningham Primary Mental Ability Test, the correlation was +.76. This is considered important as general mental maturity must be an important component of readiness.

Predictive validity was examined using the Metropolitan Achievement Test, Grade 1, and the Stanford Achievement Test, Grade 1. When correlations were made for the MRT and the reading section of the MAT, the range was from +.60 to +.73. The comparison of the Metropolitan Readiness Test with the Stanford Achievement Test yielded correlations of

+.55 for paragraph meaning and +.52 for word meaning.

The authors reported the alphabet subtest to be the most valid predictor of future success in reading and the numbers subtest the best predictor for mathematics. The numbers subtest was also a good predictor of reading success. Reliability of the total score on the MRT was reported to be above +.90.

The test was administered for standardization purposes in 1964. There were 12,231 pupils tested in twelve states. The authors reported the following:

> Despite the effort to control on socio-economic variables, the final standardization group may be slightly superior to the national average with respect to median income and average schooling of adults in the communities, but it is not believed that the effect of such selection, even if real, is of sufficient magnitude to impair the norms' usefulness. (p. 15)

Jefferson County Readiness Test

In 1960, the Jefferson County Readiness Test was developed. A committee of principals and elementary teachers, along with personnel of the testing department, developed the test. Previous to this time, the county had been using standardized readiness tests.

The JCRT, as developed in 1960, is the same test used in 1975, with the exception of the "Draw-A-Man" test. The original test allowed for the scoring of the "Draw-A-Man" test. The total score was 50 and the children who scored 35 or over were considered ready. The present test makes the "Draw-A-Man" subtest optional and it is not scored. The passing score is 27.
The Jefferson County Readiness Test is not a standardized test. There are few studies available on this test.

Gene Schrader (1962) conducted a study to show the correlation between the JCRT and the mental age of first grade children. The correlation coefficient for the JCRT with the mental age was +.49. This correlation was significant at the .01 level.

Schrader's study also reported intercorrelations between the sections of the test and the total test. The correlation for matching was +.78, numbers +.82, copying +.83, sentence meaning +.92, and "Draw-A-Man" +.72. Schrader did not correlate the JCRT to achievement to determine the predictive value of the readiness test.

White, Stratton, and Miller (1970) reported on the predictive validity of the JCRT. They obtained correlations between the JCRT and the Stanford Achievement Test. The children had JCRT scores and Stanford Achievement Test scores for grades one and three.

The following findings were reported:

The correlations between readiness and achievement scores for all children range from .20 with the arithmetic computation and Social Studies subtests of the Stanford Achievement Test in Grade 3, to a high of .38 with the spelling subtest in Grade 1. The correlations decreased in the third year. The predicitve validity for females is slightly higher in the first grade than the third grade. However, the reverse is true for males, where the predictive validity is slightly higher in the third grade than in the first grade. The range of these correlations is from .14 to .50. (p. 3)

Summary

The literature relevant to this study included the history and concept of readiness; factors which predict readiness and achievement including readiness, intelligence, socio-economic variables, and teacher ratings; normative data on the Metropolitan Readiness Test; and the Jefferson County Readiness Test.

The concept of readiness emerged because many children were not achieving in reading. Readiness was first believed to depend on neural development or the child's mental age. Educators have since moved to the position that readiness is influenced by many factors, such as mental ability, age, home environment, visual discrimination, mental maturity, motor coordination, and others. No single definition of readiness has been universally accepted by educators, but there does appear to be agreement that readiness is a necessary part of the beginning reading program.

The second portion of this chapter cited research on predictors of readiness and achievement. Factors studied were readiness, intelligence, visual discrimination, socioeconomic status, teacher judgment, and sex. Specific standardized readiness tests were considered in relation to the prediction of readiness and achievement.

The last two sections of the chapter were concerned with specific test instruments. Normative data were presented for the Metropolitan Readiness Test. The Jefferson County Readiness Test was discussed and the available research was reviewed.

CHAPTER III

METHODS AND PROCEDURES

Chapter III has included within it the methods and procedures used to carry out this study. The population, selection of subjects, and instruments used in the study have also been described. Furthermore, the design for collecting data and implementing the study have been explained.

Definition of Population

The population of Phase I of the study consisted of first year students entering in the fall of 1975. These students were children who enrolled in September at one elementary school in Jefferson County.

The population of Phase II of the study consisted of third year students presently enrolled in three Jefferson County elementary schools. The study dealt with data compiled on all students as long as they had both a Jefferson County Readiness Test score and a Metropolitan Achievement Test score.

Selection of Subjects

As previously stated, all first year students in one elementary school were studied in Phase I. The selection of the location was not a random selection. The selected school was utilized because of accessibility and readily

available cooperation between the researcher and the school's principal.

The subjects for Phase I of the study consisted of 76 beginning first year students from one Jefferson County, Kentucky elementary school. The sample included 42 boys and 34 girls. The mean age of the sample was 73.5 months or 6.1 years with a range of 68 months (5.8 years) to 80 months (6.8 years) and a standard deviation of 3.5 months.

Of the 76 children included in the sample 57 children were considered ready to begin first year formal instruction and 19 children were considered not ready. The criterion variable for readiness was the Jefferson County Readiness Test.

The students selected for Phase II included all third year students in three schools, provided the necessary data were available on each child. Children on whom all necessary data were not available were excluded from the study. The three schools were selected because they were three of the twenty-nine schools which administered the Metropolitan Achievement Tests to third year students. The schools also represented varied socio-economic areas. The school in the lower socio-economic area (A) had a population of 447 students. The school in the middle socio-economic area (B) was composed of 535 students and the school in the high socio-economic area (C) had a 430 student population.

The total number of students in this phase was 139. The sample included 39 students from school A, 68 students

from school B, and 32 students from school C. Of the 139 students, 66 were male and 73 were female. The students ranged in age from 101 months (8 years, 5 months) to 133 months (11 years, 1 month). The mean age was 109.46 months with a standard deviation of 6.02.

Of the 139 students, 25 lived in a one parent home or with a step-parent. The remaining 114 children lived with both parents.

Parent occupations were divided into six categories. The occupations ranged from professional to unskilled. The mode category was that of the unskilled worker. Thirty children had parents whose employment was categorized as unskilled. Even though the most frequently occurring occupation was classified as unskilled, there appeared to be a relevant balance of occupations as 23 were classified professional and 24 were classified as semi-professional.

Instrumentation

The instruments used in this study were the Jefferson County Readiness Test (JCRT), Metropolitan Readiness Test (MRT), Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test (O-L MA), Metropolitan Achievement Test (MAT), a checklist of teachers' perceptions of readiness (POR), a data summary sheet (DSS), and a collection of data form. The last two forms were used by the investigator to facilitate the compilation of student data. Each instrument is described in this section.

The Jefferson County Readiness Test is a test administered to all beginning first year students. The test consists of four parts: matching, numbers, copying, and sentence meaning. Each part consists of ten items with a total possible score of forty. The children are also asked to "draw a man" but this part is not graded. The passing score, the minimum score allowed for the child to be considered ready, is twenty-seven. The matching test is a test of visual discrimination. The child is asked to find another picture in the row exactly like the first picture. The numbers section requires the child to mark the picture which is largest, smallest or first, count the snowballs, or mark a specific number. The copying section of the test asks the child to copy simple objects in the space provided at the right of each picture. The sentence meaning section asks the child to mark the picture described by the teacher. The JCRT is administered to the children during the first week of school. The test is administered by the classroom teacher to the entire class. A copy of the JCRT and directions for administering the test have been included in Appendix A.

The Metropolitan Readiness Test (Form A) is a 102 item test designed to determine readiness for first grade instruction. The MRT consists of six subtests: word meaning, listening, matching, alphabet, numbers, and copying. Test seven, Draw-A-Man, is optional. The word meaning subtest asks the child to mark one picture that the teacher names. The child is given three choices. There are 16 items in

this section. The listening test, also consisting of 16 items, asks the child to mark one of three pictures. The picture the child chooses is to portray an event that is described by the examiner. This test is designed to test the child's ability to comprehend phrases and sentences instead of individual words. The matching test consists of 14 items which measure visual perception. The child is to match one of three pictures with a given picture. The alphabet test consists of 16 items and asks the child to choose one of four lower-case letters shown. The numbers test consists of 26 items and tests number knowledge. The teacher reads instruction for each item. The copying test is designed to measure both visual perception and motor control. The child is asked to copy fourteen different pictures. The raw score for the total test is converted to both a percentile rank and letter grade. If the user desires, the scores may also be described in terms of stanines.

The Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test is designed to provide an assessment of the general mental ability, or scholastic aptitude, of pupils in American schools. The Elementary 1 Level is recommended for children in the last half of the first grade through third grade. Test items sample the mental processes of classification, following directions, quantitative reasoning, comprehension of verbal concepts, and reasoning by analogy. The test consists of 80 items and requires no reading. Results of the test are reported in raw scores, deviation IQs, percentile ranks and stanines.

The Metropolitan Achievement Tests are a series of tests designed to measure how much pupils have learned in content and skill areas of the school curriculum. The Elementary Battery contains seven sections. The sections are word knowledge, reading, language, spelling, mathematics computation, mathematics concepts, and mathematics problem solving. Scores are reported in raw scores, standard scores, grade equivalents, percentile ranks, and stanines.

The word knowledge and reading sections comprise the total reading section of the test. The total mathematics section is made up of the computation, concepts, and problem solving sections of the test. The total reading and total mathematics scores were the scores used in the present study as criterion variables.

The Perceptions of Readiness Checklist (POR) consisted of ten items. These items were generated from existing literature on readiness. The final list of items included on the POR was selected in consultation with an experienced Jefferson County readiness teacher.

The items on the POR were divided into three categories. The first category, classroom behavior, contained four items. The category on physical behaviors included three items. The third category, emotional behaviors, also included three items. Each of the items on the POR was briefly explained in order to give teachers specific suggestions for determining readiness. A copy of the POR has been included in Appendix B.

A collection of data form was used to compile data for Phase I of the study and a copy has been included in Appendix C. This form requested the child's sex, date of birth, age, teacher, and name. The form also requested the readiness teacher's perceptions of readiness along with the classroom teacher's perceptions. All of the items on the POR were included as well as JCRT subtest scores and total scores and MRT subtest and total scores. In addition, there was a question concerning whether or not the child attended kindergarten.

The Data Summary Sheet (DSS) was used to obtain data for the second phase of the study. The DSS requested scores on the Jefferson County Readiness Test and each of its parts. Standard scores and raw scores were requested for Total Reading and Total Mathematics sections of the Metropolitan Achievement Test. Deviation IQ (DIQ) and raw scores were collected on the Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test. Demographic data collected included sex, age, date of birth, school and parent occupation. Parent occupations were categorized for the convenience of collecting and reporting. Two other questions were included on the DSS. In one question the teacher was to indicate whether the child had been enrolled in a readiness room. The second question asked whether the child was living in a broken home prior to entry in third year.

Implementation--Phase I

Phase I of the study was conducted in one school with 76 children and three teachers. Due to the mandated change in the Jefferson County, Kentucky Public Schools during the school year 1975-1976, several factors were different from previous times in the first year classes. School enrollment was sporadic and less than expected due to the mandated system-wide desegregation. Also, one teacher was transferred due to the decreased enrollment. Only three first year teachers remained in the Phase I school; therefore, the readiness teacher was assigned students from the beginning of school. The students were randomly assigned to the three classrooms. On the first day of school all children went to their assigned classrooms.

Implementation by Readiness Teacher

The readiness teacher rated the children with the POR checklist. The children were rated after their first one-half day's attendance. The readiness teacher then visited each of the other two classrooms for one-half day and rated each child in the room. Children enrolled in school after the first three days spent one-half day in the readiness teacher's classroom and were rated by the readiness teacher. New entrants in the readiness teacher's class were rated in the same manner as the students who were first enrolled in that room.

The readiness teacher rated the children assigned to

the classroom on two occasions. The children were rated after one-half day's attendance and then again at the end of the third day of school. The second rating was made not as a readiness teacher but as a regular classroom teacher.

All teachers turned the ratings into the researcher as soon as they were completed thus minimizing the opportunity for comparisons or contamination.

Implementation by Regular Teachers

The children were rated on the POR checklist by their classroom teacher after they had been in school for two and one-half days. New entrants were rated by the classroom teacher after the same period of time.

Testing

The Jefferson County Readiness Test was given by the teachers to part of the students on the ninth day of school. The students who had previously been rated by both a regular teacher and the readiness teacher were tested at this time. Other students were tested after they had been present in school for a minimum of three days. The three days of attendance gave both teachers an opportunity to rate the student. The testing of individuals or small groups of students continued for the next seven school days. The JCRT was administered to all children by the end of the seventeenth day of school.

Children were placed in the readiness room on the basis of the JCRT scores and teachers' judgment of the

child's readiness. The children were assigned to their new rooms before additional testing was started.

The Metropolitan Readiness Test was administered by the researcher with the help of the participating first year teachers. The testing extended over a period of a week. The administration of the MRT concluded the implementation of Phase I of the study.

Implementation--Phase II

Phase II of the study was primarily a collection of previously recorded data. Three schools were selected for this phase of the study. School A, located in a low socioeconomic area, had 44 third year students on whom data were collected. School B, a school located in a middle socioeconomic area, had approximately 85 third year students on whom data were collected. School C, located in a high socioeconomic area, had approximately 44 third year students on whom data were collected. Of these 173, data were complete on 139 children. The sample included 39 students from school A, 68 students from school B, and 32 students from school C.

The counselors at the three selected schools received the DSS during the first week of May, 1975. A DSS was to be completed for each child in the third year. Oral instructions were given on the procedures for collecting the data and assistance was offered in collecting data. A deadline for the end of school, June 6, 1975, was set for completing the collection of data. The data were collected on students who were enrolled in third year classes. The JCRT was administered when these children entered first year. The Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test (Form J) was administered in the beginning of their second year of school. The MAT Elementary Battery was administered in March of the third year. Each of these tests was administered by the classroom teacher. Additional demographic data were also requested on the DSS.

Analysis of Data

Data from Phases I and II were analyzed through the use of an IBM 370-165 computer. Standard statistical programs from the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) were utilized to compute the desired statistics. Descriptive statistics and Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients were obtained for data in both phases.

A multilinear regression technique was applied to data collected in Phase II to determine which variable or combination of variables best predicted achievement. Findings and discussion from the analyses are presented in Chapter IV.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

The findings of the study are presented in this chapter. The findings reported here were obtained through implementation of the research design presented in Chapter III. Chapter IV contains data for both phases of the study. Phase I was to determine if the Jefferson County Readiness Test was a predictor of readiness while Phase II was to determine the extent to which certain specific variables predicted third year achievement. Specifically, the study attempted to determine whether readiness as measured by the Jefferson County Readiness Test (JCRT) was a predictor of achievement.

Phase I Analysis

The JCRT was compared to teachers' perceptions of readiness and the Metropolitan Readiness Test. Jefferson County Readiness Test scores, Metropolitan Readiness Test scores, and perceptions of readiness as determined by two teachers were available for each child in the sample.

Pearson-product-moment correlations were computed to compare the two readiness tests with all other variables. The entire intercorrelation matrix appears in Appendix E. Submatrices appear in the body of Chapter IV.

Comparison Data

The Jefferson County Readiness Test data were compared to the Metropolitan Readiness Test and teachers' perceptions of readiness. In Table 1 the means and standard deviations of the JCRT and its subtests are reported. The mean scores for the Jefferson County Readiness Test ranged from a low of 6.97 for copying to a high of 9.16 for sentence meaning. The total possible score for each subtest was ten.

The total possible score for the JCRT was 40. The mean score was 30.96 and the standard deviation was 6.53. The scores ranged from a low of 12 to a high of 40.

Table 2 included the means and standard deviations for the subtests of the Metropolitan Readiness Test. The mean scores for the MRT ranged from a low of 5.76 for copying to a high of 11.92 for numbers.

The total possible score for the MRT was 102. The mean score was 51.90 with a standard deviation of 15.81. The scores ranged from a low of 20 to a high of 80.

A major concern in the present study has been whether or not the JCRT would predict readiness. Also of concern has been which subtests would provide the best predictors of readiness.

Table 1

Means and Standard Deviations of the Jefferson County Readiness Test Subtests

Subtests	Mean	Standard Deviation
Matching	7.37	1.89
Numbers	7.47	2.06
Copying	6.97	3.08
Sentence Meaning	9.16	0.97
Total	30.96	6.53

Table 2

Means and Standard Deviations of the Metropolitan Readiness Subtests

Subtests	Mean	Standard Deviation
Word Meaning	8.25	2.73
Listening	9.76	2.01
Matching	7.16	3.34
Alphabet	9.04	4.64
Numbers	11.92	4.15
Copying	5.76	3.03
Tot	al 51.90	15.81

In Table 3 correlation data relevant to the JCRT and the MRT are presented. The correlations for the subtests of the JCRT with the total test ranged from a low of +.58 for sentence meaning to a high of +.88 for copying. The two remaining subtests correlated +.83 for matching and +.81 for numbers. All the correlations were found to be significant well beyond the .01 level. These data support the supposition that the JCRT possesses considerable internal validity.

The sentence meaning subtest had the lowest correlation coefficient and also possessed the highest mean. The correlation between the sentence meaning subtest and the total test was +.58. The mean was 9.16 out of a possible total score of 10.

The range of subtest correlation coefficients for the total MRT was from a low of +.55 for listening to a high of +.88 for numbers. Other correlations were +.73 for word meaning, +.81 for matching, +.87 for alphabet, and +.77 for copying. All correlations were significant well beyond the .01 level. Furthermore, these correlations approximated the reliability coefficients obtained and reported by the authors in the manual of the Metropolitan Readiness Test.

The relationship of the JCRT to the MRT was computed. A high correlation coefficient was obtained between the two instruments. The correlation was +.89. This correlation coefficient was significant well beyond the .01 level. Therefore, it appeared the JCRT measured the construct of readiness in a manner similar to the Metropolitan.

Table 3

Correlation of JCRT and Metropolitan Readiness Test

										the second se	and the second se	State of the state	and the second state of the second	
Name	Variable	-	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	IJ	16	17
JCRT N	Matching	9	1.0000						11					
JCRT N	Yumber s	2	0.5843	1.0000										
JCRT C	Copying	80	0.6233	0.5463	1.0000									
JCRT S	Sentence Meaning	6	0.4276	0.4636	0.3510	1.0000								
JCRT T	fotal	10	0.8322	0.8112	0.8792	0.5838	1.0000							
Metro.	Word Meaning	Ξ	0.5613	0.5759	0.5170	0.4549	0.6583	1.0000						
Metro.	. Listening	12	0.5142	0.3423	0.4254	0.4170	0.5187	0.3388	1.0000					
Metro.	Matching	13	0.6467	0.5764	0.6463	0.4181	0.7374	0.4748	0.4845	1.0000				
Metro.	. Alphabet	14	0.6253	0.6282	0.6000	0.4625	0.7322	0.5799	0.3353	0.5884	1.0000			
Metro.	. Numbers	15	0.5961	0.7373	0.6572	0.3989	0.7749	0.5687	0.3700	0.6277	0.7698	1.0000		
Metro.	. Copying	16	0.6471	0.4986	0.7235	0.2543	0.7263	0.4785	0.3714	0.6164	0.5381	0.6112	1.0000	
Metro.	. Total	17	0.7626	0.7379	0.7668	0.5089	0.8925	0.7269	0.5546	0.8100	0.8654	0.8830	0.7697	1.0000

.292 = .01 Level of Significance with 74 df

The existing similar subtests within the two instruments were compared by correlation techniques. The correlations for the matching subtests were +.65, while the numbers subtests correlated +.74. The two similar copying subtests were found to correlate at the +.72 level. The sentence meaning subtest of the JCRT was not as similar to the MRT as the other JCRT subtests and correlated at a lower level.

Of the MRT subtests, the alphabet and word meaning subtests correlated best with the JCRT sentence meaning subtest. The correlations were +.46 for alphabet and +.45 for word meaning.

The listening subtest of the MRT most closely resembled the sentence meaning subtest of the JCRT in construction. However, the correlation was only +.42. As previously stated, the JCRT sentence meaning subtest was not as predictive of readiness as the other JCRT subtests. Likewise, the MRT listening subtest was the least predictive of the total MRT.

Additional Comparison Data

Table 4 includes correlation data for the JCRT and teachers' perceptions of readiness. It also includes correlation data for the JCRT and the variables of sex, age, and kindergarten attendance.

The JCRT score was correlated with two teachers' perceptions of readiness. The readiness teacher and a

Table 4

Correlation of the JCRT and Other Selected Variables

Δ	ariahla									
Variable	#	2	3	4	5	10	17	19	30	11
Sex	2	1.0000								
Age	з	0.1288	1.0000							
Readiness Feacher's Perceptions	4	-0.0667	-0.2960	1.0000	:					
Classroom Feacher's Perceptions	S	-0.1075	-0.3719	0.4878	1.0000					
JCRT Total	10	-0.0679	0.3212	-0.5224	-0.6089	1.0000				
Metropolitan Fotal	17	-0.1119	0.3310	-0.5090	-0.6572	0.8925	1.0000			
Kindergarten	19	-0.2743	-0.0087	-0.2076	-0.1354	0.2588	0.2210	1.0000		
Readiness Feacher's Checks	30	-0.0552	-0.3228	0.7426	0.4902	-0.5264	-0.5017	-0.1262	1.0000	
Classroom Feacher's Checks	41	-0.1505	-0.3387	0.4988	0.7547	-0.5449	-0.5583	-0.0474	0.4519	1.0000
292 = .01 Le	vel of	Significan	nce with	74 df						

regular classroom teacher rated each child before the JCRT was administered. The correlation of the JCRT to the readiness teacher's perceptions of readiness was -.52. The correlation of the JCRT to the classroom teacher's perception of readiness was -.61. The manner in which teachers rated the children's readiness on a scale from one to two (1-Ready, 2-Not Ready) resulted in the negative correlations. Thus, the magnitude of the correlations obtained indicate both the readiness and classroom teachers' ability to accurately predict readiness. Due to the lack of variation in the measuring scale (ready, not ready) these correlations are probably somewhat deflated.

The teachers were also asked to complete a checklist for each child. The checklist was a list of behaviors which children who were not ready for formal instruction might have exhibited. The teachers were asked to check the behaviors which each child exhibited. The readiness teacher's perceptions of readiness and the checklist correlated +.74 and the classroom teacher's perceptions of readiness and the checklist correlated +.75. The Metropolitan correlated -.50 with the readiness teacher's checklist and -.56 with the classroom teacher's checklist. It would appear from these correlations that the behaviors on the checklist were useful in aiding the teachers to determine whether the child was ready to begin formal instruction.

Sex did not appear to be a significant factor in this study. The correlation of sex to the JCRT was only -.07.

The correlation of age to the JCRT was +.32. Although this correlation was significant at the .01 level, it was not nearly as highly correlated as other factors. Still, it would appear that the older the child when entering school, the better his chances for success in the classroom.

Kindergarten attendance was included as a variable because most kindergarten classes teach skills which are similar to the readiness activities measured by the JCRT. The correlation of kindergarten attendance to the JCRT was +.26. Even though this correlation was significant at the .05 level, it was low and not of the magnitude of other correlations.

Summary of Phase I

In summary, the following findings are being reported: The Jefferson County Readiness Test was found to possess high internal validity. All subtests, with the exception of the sentence meaning subtest, correlated above +.80 with the total test. The sentence meaning subtest correlated +.58 with the total test.

When the total JCRT and the MRT were compared, the correlation coefficient was +.89. Comparisons of similar subtests of the two instruments yielded correlations of +.65 and above.

The JCRT correlated moderately with teachers' perceptions of readiness. The correlations were -.52 for the readiness teacher and -.61 for the classroom teacher. The amount

of time the teacher spent with the child appeared to improve her perceptions of readiness.

Age was also found to be a significant factor in predicting readiness. The correlation of age and the JCRT was moderate (+.32). Conversely, sex was not considered a factor in determining readiness.

Lastly, kindergarten attendance when compared to the JCRT was significant at the .05 level. However, the magnitude of this correlation was low when compared to other correlations.

Phase II Analysis

Phase II of this study was designed to determine what factors predicted third year achievement in reading and mathematics. The Metropolitan Achievement Test total reading and total mathematics scores were the criterion variables for Phase II. Predictor variables were sex, age, school, parent occupation, broken home, placement in a readiness room in first year, the Jefferson County Readiness Test and its subtests, and the Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test. The reading and mathematics scores of the Metropolitan Achievement Test were included in some analyses as predictor variables. Of particular concern was whether the JCRT or any of its subtests were predictors of reading or mathematics achievement in third year.

A multilinear regression technique was utilized in Phase II. The purpose of the multilinear regression was to determine which variable or combination of variables best

predicted achievement. Separate multilinear regression analyses were applied for reading and mathmatics. Through these techniques it was determined which of the variables were most predictive of mathematics and reading achievement.

Comparison Data

In Table 5 the means and standard deviations of selected variables for Phase II are presented. The mean of the Jefferson County Readiness Test (JCRT) for Phase II was 34.70 with a standard deviation of 6.67. The scores were somewhat higher than those in Phase I of the study. The mean for Phase I was 30.96 with a standard deviation of 6.53. The total scores for Phase II ranged within one standard deviation of the scores of Phase I. The subjects in Phase I of the study were all from a low socio-economic school while the subjects in Phase II were from varied socio-economic backgrounds. Interestingly, the mean score of school A in Phase II, a low socio-economic school, was 32.62 which compares favorably to the mean of Phase I.

The mean reported for the Otis Lennon Deviation IQ was 106.28 with a standard deviation of 13.50. This mean was somewhat higher than the mean as reported in the manual. The Otis Lennon manual reported a mean of 100 and a standard deviation of 16. It appeared from these data that the subjects as a group were somewhat higher in intelligence, as measured by the Otis Lennon, than average children of their age.

Table 5

Means and Standard Deviations of

Selected	Variables	in	Phase	II

Variable	Variable	No. Mean	Standard Deviation
JCRT Matching	7	8.3237	2.2689
JCRT Numbers	8	8.6187	1.8313
JCRT Copying	9	8.4820	2.4238
JCRT Sentence Meaning	10	9.2734	1.3926
JCRT Total	11	34.6978	6.6656
Otis Lennon DIQ	12	106.2878	13.5011
Otis Lennon RS	13	39.6978	10.0410
Metro. Ach. Reading SS	14	67.8705	9.9344
Metro. Ach. Reading RS	15	63.2734	14.6435
Metro, Ach, Math SS	16	77.2374	8.1602
Metro. Ach. Math RS	17	75.9856	15.1681

The mean score for the Metropolitan Achievement Test total reading raw score (RRS) was 63.27 with a standard deviation of 14.64. When converted via the MAT Manual, this equaled a grade equivalent of 4.1. The expected grade equivalent for a child given this test in March of the 3rd year was 3.6. The group of subjects in the sample averaged the same score that a child in the first month of fourth grade would have been expected to score. The mean score for the Metropolitan Achievement Test total mathematics test raw score (MRS) was 75.98 with a standard deviation of 15.16. When this score was converted via the manual, a grade equivalent of 4.3 was obtained.

The subjects as a group in Phase II would be considered above average in both intelligence and achievement when compared to national norms for the standardized tests administered. The data revealed that both the obtained mean Otis Lennon IQ and mean Metropolitan Achievement Test scores were above the level reported in the respective test manuals. Sampling procedures may account for this variation of observed results from those expected.

While no significance tests were computed, those children who failed the JCRT in first year appeared to be lower in deviation IQ and achievement than the entire sample as indicated in Table 6.

Table 6

Means of Tests Given - Grouped by JCRT Scores

JCRT	O.L. DIQ	Metro. Reading	SS Metro Math SS
10 Failed	90.00	59.70	68.30
129 Passed	107.55	68.50	77.93

From Table 6 it is evident that the mean IQ score of Group 1 (those who failed the JCRT) was 17 points lower than Group 2. The mean scores on both sections of the achievement test were lower by nine or ten points for Group 1. These data appeared to support the opinion that those children who did not pass the JCRT would have more difficulty in school than those children who passed the test.

Correlation Data

Table 7 presents data for variables measured in Phase II. In addition to determining which variables predicted achievement, Phase II examined the interrelationship of a variety of related variables.

The validity of the JCRT was a major concern in this study. The correlations of the JCRT subtests ranged from a low of +.75 to a high of +.87. The sentence meaning subtest, as in Phase I, had the lowest correlation to the total JCRT. The matching subtest correlated highest with the total score. The copying subtest correlated +.86 with the total and the numbers subtest correlated +.85. All correlations were high and significant beyond the .01 level.

The variable of age when correlated to the variable of enrollment in a readiness room yielded a correlation of -.35. The correlation was significant at the .01 level. This correlation would appear to indicate that the younger the child the more likely he is to be placed in a readiness room in the first year. The correlation of age to the JCRT total was -.44. This correlation indicated that the younger the child the more apt he was to do poorly on the JCRT.

The variable of parent occupation when correlated to

Table 7

Intercorrelation Matrix for Phase II

11

	11	2	-			5		-	-	-	R	п	12	13	74	R	16	11
	1 1.000																	
	2 -0.222	1.0	8															
	3 -0.019	51 0.2	1290 1.	0000														
Occupation	4 -0.011	33 0.0	187 -0.	16191	1.0000										•			
and for	5 0.242	19 -0.3	1343 0.	18671	0.04862	1.9000												
1	6 0.042	9.0 76			0.32608	0.06347	1.0000											
et chine	7 -0.023	115 -0.3	1366 -0.	- 41741	0.22033	0.23670	-0.03237	1.0000										
-	. 0.091	-0.3	3705 0.	- 15560	14062.0	0.51079	0.03560	0.66474	1.0000		:							
apriles.	9 0.213	4. 0. A	7443 -0.	- 10611	0.17922	0.31840	-0.03063	0.63025	0.62128	1.0000								
intence Meaning	10 0.021	21 -0.2	2182 -0.	- 11660	0.14784	0.28246	-0.08323	0.56130	0.56402	0.53620	1.0000							
	11 0.102	A.O. 80	35 40	- 56880	0.24864	0.39566	-0.03259	0.86945	0.84535	0.66308	0.75061	1.0000						
pid nonn	12 -0.00	65 -0.3	1729 -0.	10703 -	1.808.0	0.1856	0.00445	0.52020	0.48306	0.43020	0.23783	0.51615	1.0000					
	13 -0.061	44 -0.0	0.368 0.	- 41010	0.28607	0.14759	0.04203	0.41877	0.42127	0.27877	0.16816	0.39500	0.92032	1.0000				
Ach. Beading 85	14 0.162	59 -0.2	0- 550	07256 -	0.27432	0.27283	0.06957	0.30053	N.016.0	0.34208	0.10419	57555.0	0.61273	0.55352	1.0000			
Ach. Beeding 25	15 0.213	32 -0.2	1111 -0.	- 11960	0.26602	0.33124	0.09736	0.30549	0.33845	0.36907	0.11322	0.35490	95265.0	0.52213	0.96186	1.0000		
Leb. Nach 55	16 0.111	1.0- 10	7668 -0	- 90650	-0.14384	0.26972	0.07556	0.32868	0.38385	0.42027	0.20341	0.41433	0.56650	0.58016	0.69171	0.68435	1.0000	
Ich. Nath 25	17 0.121	1.0- 84	0- 1569	. 04745	0.15883	0.28058	0.09251	0.32292	0.39112	0.42042	0.21014	0.41594	0.57061	0.57020	NOC89-0	0.68448	09666.0	1.0000

reading achievement was -.27. This correlation was significant. Conversely, the correlation of parent occupation to mathematics achievement was not significant with the correlational value being -.16.

When correlated with intelligence, the JCRT yielded a correlation coefficient of +.52. When individual JCRT subtests were correlated to the Otis Lennon DIQ the following correlation coefficients were yielded: matching +.52; numbers +.48; copying +.43; and sentence meaning +.24. All correlations for the JCRT to DIQ were significant with the exception of the sentence meaning subtest. As previously stated, the sentence meaning 'subtest of the JCRT appeared to be the least discriminating of the JCRT subtests. That is, children appeared to perform well on this subtest even though they could not perform other readiness tasks.

When correlated to MAT reading raw score (RRS) and math raw score (MRS), the JCRT yielded correlation coefficients of +.35 for reading and +.42 for mathematics. Both correlations were significant at the .01 level.

The Otis Lennon DIQ correlated to reading achievement raw score +.59. DIQ and mathematics achievement raw score correlated +.57. Both correlations were significant well above the .01 level of significance. Intelligence yielded the highest simple correlation to reading achievement when mathematics was not considered a predictor variable, and also for math achievement when reading was not considered a

predictor variable. Intelligence appeared to be the best single means of predicting achievement.

Regression Data - Reading Achievement

Table 8 contains the multiple regression analysis for reading achievement raw scores. The complete table is included in Appendix F. The best predictor of reading achievement was the mathematics achievement raw score. Mathematics achievement accounted for 46% of the variance. Otis Lennon DIQ accounted for an additional 6% of the variance. Sex then contributed 2% and whether or not the child had been in a readiness room contributed 1%. No other variable contributed as much as 1% and all remaining variables added less than 3% change in variance.

Table 8

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Reading Raw Scores

Variable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R
Metro. Ach. Math RS	0.68448	0.46851	0.46851	0.68448
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.72774	0.52961	0.06110	0.59356
Sex	0.74360	0.55294	0.02330	0.21332
Readiness Room	0.75109	0.56414	0.01120	0.33124

When mathematics achievement was excluded as a predictor of reading achievement, slightly different results were obtained. These results are reported in Table 9. The Otis Lennon DIQ accounted for 35% of the variance. Whether or not a child had been enrolled in a readiness room for first grade contributed an additional 5% of the variance. Sex then contributed an additional 3% of the variance. No other variable contributed as much as 1% and all remaining variables added only 3% change in variance.

Table 9

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Reading Raw Scores with Metropolitan Mathematics Excluded

	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.59356	0.35231	0.35231	0.59356
Readiness Room	0.63471	0.40286	0.05055	0.33124
Sex	0.65670	0.43125	0.02839	0.21332

Regression Data - Mathematics Achievement

Table 10 contains the multiple regression analysis for mathematics achievement raw scores. The complete table is included in Appendix F.

The best predictor of mathematics achievement was the MAT reading raw score (RRS). Reading achievement accounted for 46% of the variance in the analysis. Otis Lennon raw score accounted for an additional 6% of the variance. The Jefferson County Readiness Test copying subtest accounted for an additional 2% of the variance and the Otis Lennon DIQ accounted for 1%. No other variable accounted for as much as 1% of the variance and all additional variables accounted for less than 3% of the variance.

Table 10

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Mathematics Raw Scores

Variable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R
Metro. Reading R.S.	0.68448	0.46851	0.46851	0.68448
Otis Lennon R.S.	0.72854	0.53078	0.06226	0.57020
JCRT Copying	0.74472	0.55461	0.02383	0.42042
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.75303	0.56705	0.01244	0.57061

When reading achievement was excluded as a predictor of mathematics achievement different results were obtained. These results are reported in Table 11. Complete results are found in Appendix F.

When reading achievement was excluded as a predictor of mathematics achievement Otis Lennon DIQ was found to be the best predictor. The Otis Lennon DIQ accounted for 32% of the variance. The JCRT copying subtest then added an additional 3% of the variance. The Otis Lennon raw score added another 3% and whether or not a child was enrolled in a readiness room added 1% of the variance. No other variable added as much as 1% of the variance and all other variables contributed less than 3% of the change in variance.

Table 11

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Mathematics Raw Scores with Metropolitan Reading excluded

Variable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.57061	0.32559	0.32559	0.57061
JCRT Copying	0.60262	0.36315	0.03756	0.42042
Otis Lennon RS	0.63194	0.39935	0.03620	0.57020
Readiness Room	0.64409	0.41485	0.01550	0.28058

Summary of Phase II

In summary, the following findings were reported for Phase II:

When compared to the national normative data, the group of subjects in the present study was found to be above average in both intelligence and achievement. Even though the entire sample was considered to be above average, those children who failed the Jefferson County Readiness Test were found to be lower in achievement and intelligence than those children who passed the JCRT.

The JCRT was found to have high internal validity. The inner subtest correlations ranged from a low of +.75 to a high of +.87.

The JCRT was found to correlate moderately with intelligence (+.52), reading achievement (+.35), and mathematics achievement (+.42). Intelligence was also found to correlate moderately with both reading (+.59) and mathematics achievement (+.57).

Multiple regressions were computed for both reading and mathematics achievement. Significant predictors of reading achievement were mathematics achievement raw score, Otis Lennon DIQ, sex, and readiness room enrollment. When mathematics achievement was excluded as a predictor, significant predictors were Otis Lennon DIQ, readiness room enrollment and sex.

Significant predictors of mathematics achievement were reading achievement raw score, Otis Lennon raw score, JCRT copying subtest, and Otis Lennon DIQ. When reading achievement was excluded, significant predictors were Otis Lennon DIQ, JCRT copying subtest, Otis Lennon raw score and readiness room enrollment.

Discussion

The results of the present study have been reported in the preceding portions of this chapter. In this section a discussion of these results follows.

The Jefferson County Readiness Test was a major focus of concern in the study. The purpose of this study was twofold: 1) to determine the value of the JCRT as a predictor of readiness and 2) to determine if the JCRT could properly be considered a predictor of achievement.

While the JCRT subtests were found to generally possess high internal validity, one JCRT subtest, the sentence meaning subtest, was found to be a weak subtest. This subtest appeared to possess too low a ceiling: that is, it was not effective in discriminating those children who were ready for first year instruction from those who were not ready. Furthermore, it would not significantly change the results of the total JCRT if the sentence meaning subtest were rejected or deleted in future revisions of the test.

The JCRT was correlated with the MRT. The MRT was chosen because the JCRT was purported to be similar to the MRT in construction. It was found in these results that a high positive correlation, +.89, existed between the two instruments. Since the Metropolitan Readiness Test is considered a valid and reliable measure of readiness, it follows that the Jefferson County Readiness Test is a valid and reliable measure of readiness.

The lowest subtest relationship was found between the JCRT sentence meaning subtest and the listening subtest of the MRT. The listening subtest also was found to possess the lowest degree of relationship to the total MRT readiness score. Thus, it appears that both of these subtests are measuring some characteristics substantially different from the other subtests in their respective instruments and that both provide less predictive information regarding an individual child's level of readiness. It is also possible that the low ceiling on the JCRT sentence meaning subtest contributed to the reduced correlation.

The correlation of the JCRT to the classroom teacher's

perceptions (-.61) was somewhat higher than the correlation of the JCRT to the readiness teacher's perceptions of readiness (-.52). A possible explanation for a higher correlation for the classroom teacher's perceptions could be the differentiation in time. The design of the study allowed the readiness teacher to observe each of the children for only one-half day. Conversely, the classroom teachers were with each child for two and one-half days before they were asked to complete the evaluation.

Also, the readiness teacher served as a regular classroom teacher: that is, she evaluated some children again after an additional two and one-half days attendance. This factor would tend to support the idea that additional time spent with the children would enable teachers to better determine readiness.

When age, sex, and kindergarten attendance were considered as predictors of readiness, the following results were obtained: as might be expected from the abundant research in the area of developmental psychology, the older the child the more apt he was to do well on the JCRT. Sex, although in other research has been found to be significant, was not found to be a determining factor in the present study. Also, kindergarten attendance was found to correlate +.26 with the JCRT. While this correlation was significant at the .05 level, it was still a very low correlation and from the point of view of the present study would
be subject to suspicion as a major factor in predicting the learning readiness of first year children.

A second major purpose of this study was to determine what factors were the best predictors of post first grade achievement. When simple correlations were computed the JCRT correlated moderately (+.35 and +.42) to both reading and mathematics achievement. Intelligence correlated +.59 to reading achievement and +.57 to mathematics achievement. These results are comparable to those found in earlier correlational studies reported in Chapter II.

In an attempt to determine the effects of socioeconomic status, parent occupation was selected as a predictor variable. Parent occupation was found to be a low predictor of reading achievement (-.27) but was not a significant predictor of mathematics achievement (-.16). Thus, to the degree that socio-economic status is measured by occupational classification, the present study indicated a relationship between reading achievement and family status.

The additional factors of sex, age, school, and broken home were not found to be significant predictors of reading or mathematics achievement. Even though it appeared that age was a predictor of readiness, by the time a child entered third grade age was no longer a determining factor of a child's academic achievement level.

When all variables were considered as predictors, intelligence was found to be the most significant variable for both reading and mathematics achievement. These results

also support similar findings established in previous studies of academic achievement.

Based upon multilinear regression, only one time was a JCRT subtest considered a significant predictor of achievement. The JCRT copying subtest was found to account for 3% of the variance when predicting mathematics achievement. More importantly, the total JCRT score was not found to be a significant predictor of either reading or mathematics achievement.

An interesting point was raised in considering the variable of readiness room enrollment. Enrollment in a readiness room was determined to be a significant predictor of later reading and mathematics achievement. Since readiness room enrollment has been predicated on a child's passing or failing the Jefferson County Readiness Test, it would be assumed that passing or failing the JCRT would be predictive of achievement. The preceding data, however, did not totally support this supposition.

The data reveal complex associations among achievement, intelligence, readiness room enrollment, sex, and JCRT subtests as these variables tended to account for the variance in achievement level of subjects. Thus, the present study further substantiates the notion of a complex interaction effect as has been reported in numerous research studies. Furthermore, intelligence appears to be the most reliable predictor of achievement even when other variables are introduced as factors.

CHAPTER V

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Chapter V contains three major sections. The first section is a summary of the procedures of the present study while the second section contains the conclusions of the study. The third section contains the recommendations based on the conclusions of the study.

Summary of the Study

The study was designed to examine factors which predict readiness and achievement. The major focus of concern in the study was to examine the concurrent and predictive validity of the Jefferson County Readiness Test.

The study was divided into two phases. Phase I was designed to specifically determine the concurrent validity of the Jefferson County Readiness Test. In an effort to determine the usefulness of the JCRT, it was compared to a standardized readiness test, the Metropolitan Readiness Test. Both testing instruments were compared to teachers' perceptions of readiness.

The students selected for Phase I were all first year students in one Jefferson County, Kentucky elementary school. The school was selected because of accessibility and the cooperation of the school's principal. The sample included 76 students and three teachers. All children were rated by both the readiness teacher and a regular classroom teacher. After the two ratings had been completed, the JCRT was administered to the students. Approximately one week later the Metropolitan Readiness Test was administered.

Results of this phase of the study revealed that the Jefferson County Readiness Test possessed high internal validity. Three of the four subtests of the JCRT demonstrated high correlations to the total test.

When the total JCRT and the MRT were compared, a correlation of +.89 was obtained. Similar subtests of the two instruments also yielded high correlations ranging between +.65 and +.74.

The JCRT correlated moderately (-.52 and -.61) to teachers' perceptions of readiness. It was found that the amount of time the teacher spent with the individual child was influential in determining her ability to predict readiness.

Age was found to be a predictor of readiness while sex was not shown as a significant predictor. Kindergarten attendance was found to be a low predictor (+.26) of readiness.

The purpose of Phase II of the study was to determine what selected variables were predictors of post first grade achievement. The predictor variables included Jefferson County Readiness Test scores, Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test scores, sex, age, school, parent occupation, broken home, and enrollment in a readiness room. The criterion variables for Phase II were the Metropolitan Achievement Test total reading and total mathematics scores.

This phase of the study was primarily the collection of previously recorded data. Three schools were selected, and all third year students in these schools were included in the sample. Complete data were available for 139 students. Data collected included the JCRT scores, Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test scores, and Metropolitan Achievement Test scores in addition to demographic data.

The subjects as a group were found to be above the national mean in intelligence and achievement. While the sample as a group was considered to be above average, those children who failed the JCRT were found to be lower in both intelligence and achievement than those who passed the JCRT.

Moderate correlations were found between the JCRT and intelligence (+.52), reading achievement (+.35), and mathematics achievement (+.42). Intelligence correlated +.59 with reading achievement and +.57 with mathematics achievement.

Multiple regression analyses were computed to determine significant predictors of achievement. Significant predictors of reading achievement were mathematics achievement, Otis Lennon DIQ, sex, and readiness room attendance. When mathematics achievement was excluded as a predictor, the remaining predictors were found in a slightly different order.

Significant predictors of mathematics achievement were reading achievement, Otis Lennon raw score, JCRT copying

subtest, and Otis Lennon DIQ. When reading achievement was excluded as a predictor, the significant predictors were Otis Lennon DIQ, JCRT copying subtest, Otis Lennon raw score, and readiness room enrollment.

Conclusions for Phase I

Based on the results of this study the following conclusions are presented:

- That the Jefferson County Readiness Test possessed high internal validity. Three of the four subtests of the JCRT correlated highly with the total test.
- 2. The sentence meaning subtest of the JCRT was the least predictive of the total test. This subtest was not as effective in discriminating those children who were ready from those who were not ready for formal instruction.
- The Jefferson County Readiness Test was found to be an effective measure of readiness.
- 4. The amount of time a teacher spent with a child affected her ability to predict readiness. The longer the teacher spent with the child the greater the possibility she could effectively predict readiness.
- The older the child the more apt he was to experience success on the JCRT.

 Kindergarten attendance although significant was not a major factor in predicting readiness.
Sex was not found to be a significant predictor of readiness.

Conclusions for Phase II

Phase II of the study was concerned with factors which predict post first grade reading and mathematics achievement. Based on the results reported for Phase II the following conclusions are reported:

- Intelligence, as measured by the Otis Lennon Mental Ability Test, was found to be the best single predictor of reading and mathematics achievement.
- 2. The Jefferson County Readiness Test was found to possess high internal validity. One subtest, the sentence meaning subtest, did not correlate as highly with the total test as the other subtests.
- The Jefferson County Readiness Test was found to correlate only moderately with reading and mathematics achievement.
- Parent occupation was found to have a low correlation to reading achievement but was not found to be a predictor of mathematics achievement.
- When all factors were considered in combination, significant predictors of reading achievement

were found to be mathematics achievement, intelligence, readiness room enrollment, and sex. Significant predictors of mathematics achievement were reading achievement, intelligence, the JCRT copying subtest and readiness room enrollment. Intelligence and readiness room enrollment were found to be significant predictors of both reading and mathematics achievement. The Jefferson County Readiness Test was not found to be a significant predictor of either third grade reading or mathematics achievement. Only one JCRT subtest was found to be a significant predictor of mathematics achievement.

Recommendations

Based upon the preceding conclusions of the present study, the following recommendations are made. These recommendations should provide researchers with productive avenues of study relevant to the Jefferson County Readiness Test.

The present study found the JCRT to be a valid measure of educational readiness. However, one subtest --the sentence meaning subtest-- was statistically inadequate. Therefore, it is recommended that this subtest be psychometrically strengthened or deleted in future revisions of the JCRT.

In the present study, the JCRT did not prove to be a valid predictor of post first grade achievement. Phase II

of the present study suffered a methodical weakness in that it was an ex post facto design. Furthermore, the present study did not specifically examine the predictive relationship between readiness test scores and first grade achievement. Further study is needed to determine if the JCRT can in fact be considered a predictor of first grade achievement. In order to overcome methodical weaknesses, the study would necessarily be of a longitudinal nature. Since the conception of this study, Stanford Achievement Test data are available on all elementary children, including the children in Phase I of this study. Thus, this longitudinal study could be accomplished with relative ease.

A third recommendation relates to Phase II of the present study. Phase II encompassed an analysis of readiness and achievement in third grade students. It is recommended that the subjects included in Phase II be followed and that replication studies be completed at the end of the students' fourth, fifth, and sixth years of school.

Another recommendation is related to the revised edition of the Metropolitan Readiness Test. In 1974 a new revision of the Metropolitan became available. However, the present study was completed utilizing the 1965 edition of the Metropolitan Readiness Test. Therefore, a replication study of Phase I of the present study is needed to determine the nature of existing relationships between the JCRT and the 1974 edition of the Metropolitan Readiness Test.

The last recommendation is related to the

interrelationship of kindergarten attendance, readiness test scores and first grade achievement. The present study presented data which raised questions concerning the significance of kindergarten attendance. Future studies are needed which would examine the relationships of basic educational skills at the time of entry into kindergarten, readiness tests scores at the beginning of first year academic training and first grade achievement. Again, such studies would be longitudinal in nature.

APPENDIX A

JEFFERSON COUNTY READINESS TEST

&

DIRECTIONS FOR ADMINISTERING AND SCORING JEFFERSON COUNTY SCHOOLS READINESS TEST

Jefferson County Schools

READINESS TEST

For Beginners

Name			T	Data of most	Year	Month Day
Teac	Last her	First		Child's Birthdate		·
Scho	01		•	Child's Age	Years	Months
1.	TEST S Matching Numbers	POSSIBLE PUPIL SCORE SCORE	'S	DRAW A MAN		
	Copying	10				
17.	Sentence Meaning	10				
	Total	40				
Read	у		-			
Not Rema	Ready rks					
			-			
			-	Evaluation		

TEST I. MATCHING



GOION GA OC GO WV M WAB AB BA AC BC 8 386 638 836 386 368 10. 15 55 51



78 6. 7. 8. : (1) (1) " 9. 4 10. 5) -4-NUMBER RIGHT .



TEST IV. SENTENCE MEANING



-6-



DIRECTIONS FOR ADMINISTERING AND SCORING JEFFERSON COUNTY SCHOOLS READINESS TEST FOR BEGINNERS

This readiness test was devised to measure the readiness of beginners for formal instruction and is to be given within the first two weeks of school. There are four (4) separate tests: Matching, Numbers, Copying and Sentence Meaning. The four tests consist of figures or pictures which are to be marked or copied according to instructions given orally by the examiner. The exercise, Drawing a Man, is to be given last.

The examiner should be thoroughly familiar with the test and the directions before administering. The entire group should be tested at one time. Show on the board how to make an X. There should be a break, or rest period, between the tests.

See that each child is comfortable and provided with a dark crayon, a marker, and a test booklet on which his name has been written. Arrange seating so that copying is discouraged. Have a test booklet handy to point specific items as needed. Use the sample items to see that every child understands the procedure; then no more individual assistance is to be given.

Directions for Test I - Matching: (Allow approximately 15 seconds for each item.)

Say: Put your marker under the first row. Put your finger on the first picture. Move your finger along this row and find another picture just like the first picture. Put an X on it. (See that sample is done correctly.) Now move your marker down to the next row.

Row 1. Say: Put your finger on the first picture. Move your finger along this row and find another picture just like the first picture. Put an X on it. Proceed in like manner for each of the remaining 9 items of this test, being sure that pupils turn to page 2 after row 4.

Directions for Test II - Numbers: (Allow approximately 15 seconds for each item.)

There is no sample given. For row 1, say: Place your marker under the first row. Put an X on the glass with the most chocolate milk in it. Move your marker down.

- Say: Put an X on the middle duck. Move your marker down.
- 2. Put an X on the first butterfly from the flower. Move your marker down.
- 4. Put an X on the smallest box. Move your marker down.
- Put an X on the number 2. Turn to the next page. (Be sure pupils have page 4.) 5.
- 6. Place your marker under the first row. Put an X on the last star in the row. Move your marker down.
- Put an X on the largest ball. Move your marker down. 7.
- Put an X on the pile of 7 snowballs. Move your marker down. 8.
- 9. Put an X on 6 of the doughnuts. Move your marker down.
- 10. Put an X on the number 25.

Directions for Test III - Copying

No marker needed. Say: Look at the picture at the top on this side of the page. Take your crayon and draw another picture just like it in the space beside it. (Point to the space. See that sample is done correctly.) Say: Look at each picture and draw one just like it in the space beside it. (Pointing) Now finish this page by yourself. (Allow approximately 5 minutes for this test.)

Directions for Test IV - Sentence Meaning: (Allow approximately 15 seconds for each item.) Say: Place your marker under the first row. Look at the pictures. Put an X on the man. (See that sample is done correctly.) Now move your marker down.

- Put an X on the table with 2 balls on it. Move your marker down. 1.
- Put an X on something you could wear. Move your marker down. 2.
- Put an X on the animal. Move your marker down. 3.
- Put an X on the tree that has apples on it. Turn to the next page. (Be sure pupils have 4. page 7.)

5. Place your marker under the first row. Put an X on the thing you blow. Move your marker down.

83

- 6. Put an X on the watch. Move your marker down.
- 7. Put an X on the thing that files. Move your marker down.
- 8. Put an X on the little girl in the big chair. Move your marker down.
- 9. Put an X on the picture of the sun shining on the tree with the boy under it. Move your marker down.
- 10. Put an X on the picture of the house that has 2 children and a dog by it.

Scoring the Tests

Each item on the four tests counts 1. Record number right at the end of the test in the space provided.

Count response correct if clearly marked even though X is not used.

No credit is given if two items are marked, even though one is the correct response.

- DO NOT COUNT THE SAMPLES ON TESTS I, III, AND IV.
- For Test III Copying:

Tracing over any design instead of copying is not correct.

Reversing figures is incorrect.

Item must be copied in the space provided.

For Test IV - Items 9 and 10 are correct if marked anywhere in the box.

Record total score for each test on the front in the space provided.

Interpretation of Results

Those pupils who make a total score of 27 or more on this test should probably be considered Ready for formal instruction. Those pupils receiving a total score of less than 27 are probably Not Ready.

On the cover page in the blanks below the scores, indicate with a check if, from the scores plus the teacher's judgment, the child seems to be Ready; if Not Ready, check. Under remarks, make pertinent comments concerning child's actions.

Exercise - Drawing a Man

Instruct children to draw a man in the space provided on the front of the test. Allow not more than 10 minutes for this and as soon as a child has completed his test, collect test.

This exercise, although not given a score, is an important part of the evaluation of a child's readiness. It indicates his awareness of himself, the human body, and details. The Science-Social Studies Unit 011 has much material which will aid in developing this awareness.

Exercise - Drawing a Man:

The picture of the man should be examined according to 5 categories: IMMATURE

Scribbling.

Drawing cannot be recognized as a human figure.

BELOW AVERAGE

Head, but some missing elements; i.e. trunk, arms or legs.

AVERAGE

Can be recognized as a human being. All elements present.

ABOVE AVERAGE

All elements present with proper prpportions.

SUPERIOR

All elements present with proper proportions.

Clothes.

A profile with elements in line, i.e., if profile is used for head the rest of the body should be in a profile view also.

APPENDIX B

:

^

PERCEPTIONS OF READINESS CHECKLIST

Perceptions of Readiness Checklist (POR)

Some of the following behaviors may be exhibited by first year children. Please check any of the behaviors you feel the child exhibits.

Physical Behaviors

Lacks motor coordination

This child has difficulty running, skipping, and jumping. He may not be able to hold a pencil or crayon.

Has speech impediments

The child may have a lisp or some other speech difficulty.

Has immature speech patterns

The child may talk baby talk, or cannot speak in complete sentences.

Emotional Behaviors

Lacks self-control

This	child	may	throw	temper	tantrums,	he	becomes
angry	y with	hims	self ar	nd other	rs.		
Chort	-		monitre	moor			

Shows over-aggressiveness The child bothers other children, sometimes gets into fights, and demands attention.

Is destructive

This child may break pencils and crayons, tear up papers, write on desks, etc.

Classroom Behaviors

Tires of activity quickly

This child needs rapid change. He cannot concentrate for long periods of time.

Cannot work independently

This child may need constant supervision and encouragement, He may lack self-confidence.

Is inattentive

- This child may daydream, look around the room, or talk rather than listen.
 - Does not follow directions

This child needs to have all instructions explained several times and individually. Needs to be shown how.

Based on your observation of this child and your knowledge of readiness, do you feel this child is ready to begin formal instruction? Ready___ Not Ready

Comments:

Child's Name Teacher's Name

APPENDIX C

COLLECTION OF DATA FORM

Child's Name	D.O.B
Sex	Age
Teacher's Name	
Readiness Teacher	Regular Teacher
Ready	Ready
Not Ready	Not Ready
Lacks Motor Coordination	Lacks Motor Coordination
Has Speech Impediments	Has Speech Impediments
Has Immature Speech Patterns	Has Immature Speech Patterns
Lacks Self-Control	Lacks Self-Control
Shows Over-aggressiveness	Shows Over-aggressiveness
Is Destructive	Is Destructive
Tires of Activity Quickly	Tires of Activity Quickly
Cannot Work Independently	Cannot Work Independently
Is Inattentive	Is Inattentive
Does not follow directions	Does not follow directions
JCRT Test	Metropolitan Readiness
Matching	Word Meaning
Numbers	Listening
Copying	Matching
Sentence Meaning	Alphabet
Total	Numbers
	Copying
Did the shild strend	Total
kindergarten?	Percentile Rank
YesNo	Letter Rating

Collection of Data Sheet

APPENDIX D

:

DATA SUMMARY SHEET

Data	Summary	7 Sheet

Sex	Age	D.O.B
School		
Was child assig	gned to the Readiness	s Room?
Broken home pri	lor to entry in 3rd g	grade?
Father's Job T:	Parent Occupati	ion (Please circle) Professional Managerial Semiprofessional Skilled Semiskilled Unskilled
	Test Scores	
JCRT Matching	0.L. (2nd Year) D.I.Q	Metro. Achievement Raw Standard Score Score
Numbers	Raw Score Tot	tal Reading
Copying	1	Total Math
Sentence Meaning		
Total		
Name of ch	nild for compilation	purposes only.
Please detad	ch when all data have	e been completed,
	Detach	
Name		

APPENDIX E

:

INTERCORRELATION MATRIX FOR PHASE I

Intercorrelation Matrix for Phase I

Variable List

Variable Name	Variable Number
Teacher	1
Sex	2
Age	3
Readiness Teacher's Perceptions	4
Classroom Teacher's Perceptions	5
JCRT Matching	6
JCRT Numbers	7
JCRT Copying	8
JCRT Sentence Meaning	9
JCRT Total	10
Metropolitan Word Meaning	11
Metropolitan Listening	12
Metropolitan Matching	13
Metropolitan Alphabet	14
Metropolitan Numbers	15
Metropolitan Copying	16
Metropolitan Total	17
Metropolitan Letter Grade	18
Kindergarten	19
Readiness - Lacks motor control	20

Variable Name	Variable Number
Readiness - Has speech impediments	21
Readiness - Has immature speech patterns	22
Readiness - Lacks self-control	23
Readiness - Shows over-aggressiveness	24
Readiness - Is destructive	25
Readiness - Tires of activity quickly	26
Readiness - Cannot work independently	27
Readiness - Is inattentive	28
Readiness - Does not follow directions	29
Readiness Teacher - Total checks	30
Classroom - Lacks motor coordination	31
Classroom - Has speech impediments	32
Classroom - Has immature speech patterns	33
Classroom - Lacks self-control	34
Classroom - Shows over-aggressiveness	35
Classroom - Is destructive	36
Classroom - Tires of activity quickly	37
Classroom - Cannot work independently	38
Classroom - Is inattentive	39
Classroom - Does not follow directions	40
Classroom Teacher - Total checks	41

														Inte	erco	rrel	a
	1		,	٠	5	•	,	•	•	10	11	18	13		15	16	
	-0.0440	1.000	ø														
;	-0.0362	0.128	8 1.0000														
	0.1356	-0.066	7 -0.2960	1.0000													
5	0.1637	-0.1075	5 -0.3719	0.4676	1.0000												
•	0.0932	-0.1202	2 0.2957	-0.3464	-0.4429	1.0000											
,	-0.0233	-0.0918	0.1920	-0.4490	-0.5518	0.5843	1.0000	,									
8	0.0885	-0.0009	0.3271	-0.44 30	-0.5250	0.6233	0.5463	1.0000									
,	-0.1325	-0.0102	0.1235	-0.4650	-0.3830	0.4276	0.4636	0.3510	1.0000								
10	0.0417	-0.0679	0.3212	-0.5224	-0.6089	0.8322	0.8112	0.8792	0.5838	1.0000							
11	0.0411	-0.1904	0.1505	-0.4986	-0.5022	0.5613	0.5759	0.5170	0.4549	0.6583	1.0000						
15	0.0318	-0.0920	0.2433	-0.2953	-0.4083	0.5142	0. 3423	0.4254	0.4170	0.5187	0.3388	1.0000					
13	0.0720	0.0050	0.3070	-0.4560	-0.5525	0.6467	0.5764	0.5463	0.4181	0.7374	0.4748	0.4d45	1.0000				
14	0.0104	-0.0537	بليلا 2.0	-0.3100	-0.5418	0.6253	0.6282	0.6000	0.4625	0.7322	0.5799	0.3353	0.5884	1.0000			
15	0.0348	-0.1112	0.3146	-0.4421	-0.5768	0.5961	0.7373	0.6572	0. 3989	0.7749	0.5687	0.3700	0.6277	0.7698	1.0000		
16	-0.0264	-0.1227	0.3017	-0.4290	-0-4784	0.6471	0.4966	0.7235	0.2543	0.7263	0.4785	0.3714	0.6164	0.5381	0.6112	1.0000	
17	0.0334	-0.1119	0.3310	-0.5090	-0.6572	0.7626	0.7379	0.7668	0.5089	0.8925	0.7269	0.5546	0.8100	0.8654	0.8830	0.7697	
18	-0.0690	0.1080	-0.3475	0.5269	0.6193	-0.7284	-0.7197	-0.7368	-0.5464	-0.8680	-0.7013	-0.4696	-0.7526	-0.8335	-0.8470	-0.7246	•
19	-0.0843	-0.2743	-0.0087	-0.2076	-0.1354	0.2053	0.2072	0.1355	9.3172	0.2588	0.1565	0.2714	0.1972	0.1200	0.2169	0.1340	
20	-0.1039	-0.1895	-0.1882	0.5142	0.3080	-0.1751	-0.2362	-0.3036	-0.1381	-0.2918	-0.2193	-0.0509	-0.2821	-0.1569	-0.3629	-0.2338	•
22	0.0	0.0363	-0.0391	0.3074	0.0836	-0.0673	-0.1002	-0.0952	-0.0117	-0.0970	-0.2215	0.0621	-0.1587	-0.0867	-0.1079	-0.0726	•
21	-0.0817	-0.1039	0.0157	0.1649	0.1470	-0. 3918	-0.1958	-0.2635	-0.2594	-0.3375	-0.0959	-0.1596	-0.2495	-0.1514	-0.1660	-0.2212	•
24	-0.2850	0.0250	-0.0666	0.0019	0.2581	-0.0398	-0.1128	0.0017	0.1074	-0.0300	-0.1434	-0.0776	-0.0709	-0.1044	-0.0781	-0.0964	•
	99.0000	SB 0000		-0.0395	-0.0638	0.0165	0.0893	-0.0172	0.2067	0.0559	0.0	0.1164	0.0599	-0.0020	0.0188	-0.0605	
*	-0.0763	-0.038	-0.1609	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	-0.1020	-0.1965	-0. 1623	-0.2936	
	-0.0550	0.1710	-0.0716	0. 1581	0.1118	-0.4262	-0.2437	-0.6104	-0.1069	-5. 3410	-0.3291	-0.1101	-0.123	-0.2697	-0. 1142	-0. 3682	
	-0.1469	-0.0306	-0.2075	0.3072	0.1720	-0.1295	-0.1780	-0.2217	-0.2215	-0.4000	-0.1205	0.0226	-0.2185	-0,1501	-0.2471	-0.1263	
29	0.0701	-0.1075	-0.2194	0.5411	0.3945	-0.1408	-0.4450	-0. 3657	-0.3466	-0, 1986	-0.2966	-0.1621	-0.2756	+0.2700	-0.4174	-0.3254	
0	-0.1294	-0.0552	-0.3228	0.7426	0.4902	-0.3419	-0.4519	-0.4998	-0.2996	-0.5264	-0.02	-0.1499	-0.4557	-0.3293	-0.5085	-0.4198	
91	0.0610	-0.0160	-0.2739	0.5342	0.5351	-0.2922	-0.3584	-0.4179	-0.2902	-0.1418	-0.2567	-0.2833	-0.4120	-0.3209	-0.6441	-0.312h	
22	0.1037	-0.1361	0.1195	0.0336	0.0836	-0.0445	0.1300	0.0450	0.0329	0.0550	0.0316	0.1479	0.0225	0.0250	0.1419	0.0698	
	0.1969	-0.0841	-0.2170	0.3501	0. 3825	-0.2889	-0.4624	-0.2633	-0.1876	-0.3807	-0.1991	-0.2418	-0.2387	-0.2772	-0.3884	-0.2148	
*	0.0817	-0.0405	-0.1457	0.1457	0.2581	-0.1478	-0.246	-0.1751	-0.5258	-0.2800	+0.0935	-0.2802	-0.2340	-3.1631	-0.2258	-0,1188	
15	-0.0492	-0.2479	-0.0317	0.003	-0.0364	0.1233	0.0942	-0.0235	0.10%	0.0713	0.011)	6455.0	0.0440	0.0322	+0.0820	0.0636	
*	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	39.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	
97	9-4208	0.0071	-0.1623	0-1446	0.6157	-0.2290	-0. 3618	-0. 3082	-0.2758	-0.3666	-0.4124	•0. iizi'i	-0.2982	-0.3791	-0.3481	-0, 3619	•
	0.2529	-0.1771	-0.2425	0.2176	0.4532	-0.2447	-0.3716	-0.2490	-0. 3160	-0.3550	+3,3067	-0.1/%	-0.2450	-0.3489	-0.3698	•0. *01)	
19	7455-0	-0.0569	-0.1065	0.2176	0. 3937	-0.06%	0.0223	-0.1415	-0.3160	-0.1299	-0.0852	-0,0976	-0.1818	+0.1867	-0.1644	+0,1516	
-	0.1979	-0.0299	-9.3937	0.3361	0.0935	-0.4862	-0.5228	-0.5021	-0.40%	-0.6090	-0.5133	-0.2/79	+0, 3057	+0.4210	+0.3416	-0.6677	
		-0.1005	-0.1347							-0.5449	-0.4378	-0.0.19	-0.4503	-0.4454	-0.5534	+0. 3412	

Intercorrelation Matrix for Phase I of the Study

1.0000																					
0.5884	1.0000																				
0.6277	0.7698	1.0000																			
0.6164	0.5381	0.6112	1.0000																		
0.3100	0.8654	0.8830	0.7697	1.0000																	
-0.7526	-0.8335	-0.84,70	-0.7240	-0.9452	1.0000																
0.1972	0.1200	0.2169	0.1340	0.2210	-0.2530	1.0000															
-0.2821	-0.1549	-0. 3629	-0.2338	-0.2893	0. 3256	-0.1711	1.0000														
-0.1587	-0.0867	-0.1079	-0.0726	-0.1315	0.1150	-0.0199	0.1476	1.0000													
-0.2495	-0.1514	-0.1660	-0.2212	-0.2198	0.2421	-0.0832	0.1753	-0.0396	1.0000												
-0.0709	-0.1044	-0.0781	-0.0964	-0.1191	0.1320	-0.1461	0.1606	-0.0695	-0.0236	1.0000											
0.0599	-0.0020	0.0188	-0.0402	0.021	9.0471	0.1426	-0.0270	0.1112	-0.0272	-0.0478	1.0000										
99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	1.0000									
-0. 3020	-0.1965	-0. 3423	-0.2936	-0.3383	0.3382	-0.1079	0.4024	0.1245	0.2151	0.0533	-0.1265	99.0000	1.0000								
-0.3173	-0.2497	-0.3162	-0.3682	-0.4036	0. 3226	0.0116	0.1864	-0.1092	0.3625	0.1691	-0.0751	99.0000	0.2658	1.0000							
-0.2385	-0.1501	-0.2471	-0.1263	-0.2013	0.2553	0.01%	0.2150	-0.0990	0.2000	0.0390	0.1361	99.0000	0.5651	0.1316	1.0000						
-0.2750	-0.2700	-0.4174	-0.3254	-0.3782	0.3968	-0.1524	0.4005	-0.0299	-0.0737	-0.12%	-0.0205	99.0000	0.2860	0.1980	0.2365	1.0000					
-0.4557	-0.3293	-0.5085	-0.4198	+0.5017	0.5243	-0.1262	0.6956	0.2371	0.2853	0.1502	0.1430	99.0000	0.7683	9.4476	0.4437	0.5739	1.0000				
-0.4120	-0.3209	-0.4441	-0.312%	-0.4378	0.4077	-0.0656	0.3519	0.0582	0.24.50	0.0780	-0.1120	99.0000	0. 3965	0-4355	0.1960	0.3703	0.5068	1.0000			
0.0225	0.9250	0.1419	0.0698	0.0870	-0.0709	0.0558	-0.0393	0-4412	-0.0396	-0.0695	0.1112	99.0000	-0.0812	-0.1092	-0.0990	-0.1244	-0.0265	-0.0526	1.0000		
-0.2367	-0.2772	-0.3684	•0.2168	-0.3399	0.3270	0.0237	0**018	-0.1257	0.3151	0.136	-0.0864	99.0000	0.1%2	0. 3057	0.0705	0. 1068	5965.0	0.4561	-0.1257	1.0000	
-0.2%0	-1.1031	-0.2258	-0.1188	-0.2310	0.2053	-0.1461	0.0135	-0.0695	-0.0236	-0.0611	-0.0678	99.0000	-0.1988	0.1691	0.0390	0. 686	0.0428	0.2523	-0.0695	-0.0743	1.0000
0.0600	0.0322	-0.0680	3.0625	0.0362	0.0622	0.1875	0.11%	0.0070	-0.0423	-9.0763	0.2784	99.0000	-3,0013	-0.1167	0.1646	0.03%	0.077	-0.1762	0.9070	-0.1363	-0.0763
97.0000	99,0000	**.3000	99.0000	99.0000	99,3000	97.0000	99,0000	99.0000	99.0006	99.0000	99.0000	99.0300	99,0000	99.0000	*9.3006	\$9.0000	99,0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000
***2984	-9. 3791	-0.3681	+0.3619	-0-6484	0.6052	+0.0776	0.1526	0.1515	0.1391	0.1067	-0.1956	99.0000	0.3255	0.0134	~1341	0.2967	0.308)	0-12366	0.1515	0.3587	-0.0308
=0.3k+0	-3.3685	*0. je je	•0. 9013	-0. 3814	0.3137	-0.0011	0.1267	-0.0102	0.1932	0.0323	-0.0070	99.0000	0.1812	0.2230	1380	0.3633	0.3017	0.3347	0.0671	0.4(8)	0.1858
+2.1818	+0,1867	+0.184	+0.1918	-0.1977	0.2161	3.1500	0.1917	0.0871	0.14)4	+9.1231	-0.0070	99,0010	0.0371	0.0163	0.1360	0.2115	0.294	0.2558	0.0871	0.1509	0.1858
*8. jØ17	*0.4210	+0. 419	*9-66T?	+0.9821	0.5385	~ >+8130	9-1100	0.0967	0.1518	9.1453	+0.0579	en. docd	0.000				0.3153	0.4111		0.9855	0.00%
+0.450)	-0.4858	-0.5531	-9. 9912	+0.5583	0.54.90	-1.0676	0.2874	0.1133	9.2587	0.0475	-9.9500	11.0003	0.4893	0.0010						V-3563	1.014

se I of the Study

23

4.25

0.41

0.719

											:							
1.0000																		
-0.0236	1.0000																	
-0.0272	-0.0478	1.0000																
99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	1.0000															
0.2151	0.0533	-0.1265	99.0000	1.0000														
0.3625	0.1691	-0.0751	99.0000	0.2658	1.0000													
0.2000	0.0390	0.1361	99.0000	0.5651	0.1314	1.0000												
0.0737	-0.12%	-0.0205	99.0000	0.2540	0.1960	0.235	1.0000											
0.2853	0.1802	0.1430	99.0000	0.7683	0.4476	0.4437	0.5739	1.0000										
0.2430	0.0780	-0.1120	99.0000	0.3965	0.4355	0.1960	0. 3703	0.5068	1.0000									
0.0396	-0.0695	0.1112	99.0000	-0.0812	-0.1092	-0.0990	-0.1244	-0.0245	-0.0526	1.0000								
0.3151	0.1348	-0.0866	99.0000	0.1962	0. 3057	0.0705	0. 1068	0.2982	0.4561	-0.1257	1.0000							
0.0236	-3.0611	-0.04.78	99.0000	-0.1088	0.1691	0.0390	0. 586	0.0428	0.2523	-0.0695	-0.0743	1.0000						
0.042)	+0.976)	0.2754	99.00.0	+3+0013	-0.1167	0.1646	0.0354	0.0774	-0.1762	0.0070	-0.1363	-0.076)	1.0000					
19.0000	++,0000	99.0000	99.5300	19.0000	99,0000	99,0000	99,0000	19,0000	99,0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	99.0000	1.0000				
0.1991	0.1067	-0-1956	99.0000	0.3255	0.015	.1.991	0.2967	0.3083	0.4366	0.1515	0.3587	-0.0308	-0.1385	99.0000	1.0000			
0.1932	0.0323	-0.0070	47.0000	0. 1812	0.2230	-1380	0.3633	0. 3017	0.3327	0.0871	0.4283	0.1858	-0.2190	99.0000	0.4160	1.0000		
0.1938	-9-1611	+0.0070	49,0070	0.0377	0.0103	0.1380	9.2115	0.286	0.2556	0.0871	0.1509	0.1858	0.1509	**.0000	0.3552	0.253	1.0000	
	2.1253	-0.0579	14,0002		0.2284	0.1890	0.2363	0.3153	0.4113	0.0067	0. 3955	0.28%	-9.1111		0.1117	0		

0.0433

0.4705

APPENDIX F

MULTIPLE REGRESSION

ANALYSES FOR PHASE II

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Reading Raw Scores

					3.33
Variable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R	10000
Metro. Ach. Math RS	0.68448	0.46851	0.46851	0.68448	
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.72774	0.52961	0.06110	0.59356	
Sex	0.74360	0.55294	0.02330	0.21332	
Readiness Room	0.75109	0.56414	0.01120	0.33124	
Parent Occupation	0.75748	0.57377	0.00963	-0.26802	
JCRT Sentence Meaning	0.76502	0.58525	0.01148	0.11322	
Otis Lennon RS	0.77219	0.59628	0.01103	0.52213	
Age	0.78037	0.60897	0.01270	-0.27727	
JCRT Numbers	0.78188	0.61133	0.00236	0.33845	
JCRT Matching	0.78271	0.61263	0.00130	0.30549	
School	0.78301	0.61311	0.00048	-0.03611	
Broken Home	0.78310	0.61324	0.00013	0.09736	
Metro. Ach. Math SS	0.78314	0.61331	0.00007	0.68435	
JCRT Copying	0.78317	0.61336	0.00005	0.36907	

*

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Reading Raw Scores

lariable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R
Dtis Lennon DIQ	0.59356	0.35231	0.35231	0.59356
keadiness Room	0.63471	0.40286	0.05055	0.33124
šex	0.65670	0.43125	0.02839	0.21332
arent Occupation	0.66300	0.43957	0.00832	-0.26802
ICRT Sentence Meaning	0.66898	0.44754	0.00797	0.11322
ICRT Copying	0.67428	0.45466	0.00712	0.36907
ICRT Numbers	0.67790	0.45954	0.00488	0.33845
ge	0.67946	0.46166	0.00212	-0.27727
tis Lennon RS	0.68475	0.46888	0.00721	0.52213
broken Home	0.68532	0.46966	0.00078	0.09736

with Metropolitan Mathematics excluded
Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Mathematics Raw Scores

Variable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R	
Metro. Ach. Reading RS	0.68448	0.46851	0,46851	0.68448	
Otis Lennon RS	0.72854	0.53078	0,06226	0.57020	
JCRT Copying	0.74472	0.55461	0,02383	0.42042	
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.75303	0.56705	0,01244	0.57061	
Parent Occupation	0.75710	0.57320	0,00615	-0.15883	
Age	0.76047	0.57832	0,00512	-0.16951	
Broken Home	0.76284	0.58192	0,00360	0.09251	
Metro. Ach. Reading SS	0.76577	0.58640	0.00448	0.68304	
JCRT Sentence Meaning	0.76678	0.58795	0.00155	0.21014	
JCRT Matching	0.76871	0.59092	0,00297	0.32292	
School	0.76944	0.59203	0,00011	-0.04745	
JCRT Total	0.77002	0.59293	0,00090	0.41594	
JCRT Numbers	0.77346	0.59824	0,00531	0.39112	
Readiness Room	0.77432	0.59957	0,00132	0.28058	
Sex	0.77438	0.59966	0,00010	0.12778	

Phase II Multiple Regression on Metropolitan Achievement Test Mathematics Raw Scores

with Metropolitan Reading excluded

Variable	Multiple R	R Square	RSO Change	Simple R
Otis Lennon DIQ	0.57061	0.32559	0.32559	0.57061
JCRT Copying	0.60262	0.36315	0.03756	0.42042
Otis Lennon RS	0.63194	0.39935	0.03620	0.57020
Readiness Room	0.64409	0.41485	0.01550	0.28058
Sex	0.65031	0.42290	0.00805	0.12778
JCRT Matching	0.65419	0.42796	0.00506	0.32292
Broken Home	0.65745	0.43225	0.00429	0.09251
Parent Occupation	0.65960	0.43507	0.00282	-0.15883
School	0.66081	0.43667	0.00160	-0.04745
Age	0.66195	0.43818	0.00151	-0.16951
JCRT Total Score	0.66200	0.43824	0.00006	0.41594
JCRT Numbers	0.66206	0.43833	0.00009	0.39112
JCRT Sentence Meaning	0.66521	0.44251	0.00418	0.21014

REFERENCES

- Arthur, G. A quantitative study of the results of grouping first grade children according to mental age. Journal of Educational Research, 1925, 12, 173-185.
- Bagford, J. Reading readiness scores and success in reading. The Reading Teacher, 1968, 21, 324-328.
- Barrett, T.C. The relationship between measures of prereading visual discrimination and first grade reading achievement: a review of the literature. Reading Research Quarterly, 1965, 1, 51-76.
- Barrett, T.C. The use of reading readiness tests for prediction and diagnosis: a critique. Perspectives In Reading #8: The Evaluation of Children's Read-ing Achievement, I.R.A., 1971.
- Bilka, L.P. An evaluation of the predictive value of certain readiness measures. California, Pennsylvania: California State College, 1971. (ERIC Document Re-production Service No. ED 053 869)
- Bliesmer, E.P. A study of relationships among tests of reading readiness, teachers' predictions, test intelligence, and reading achievement. Master's thesis, University of Iowa, 1951.
- Bremer, N. Do readiness tests predict success in reading? Elementary School Journal, 1959, 59 (4), 222-224.
- Byrne, D. An introduction to personality. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1966.
- Callaway, B. Pupil and family characteristics related to reading achievement. Education, 1972, 92, 71-75.
- Durkin, D. Teaching them to read. Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 1971.
- Forr, R. and Anastasiow, N. Tests of reading readiness and achievement: a review and evaluation, Reading Aids Series, I.R.A., Newark, Delaware, 1969. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 073 433)
- Gates, A.I. and Bond, G. Reading readiness: a study of factors determining success and failure in beginning reading. Teachers College Record, 1936, 37, 679-685.
- Gates, A.I., Bond, G.L., and Russell, D.H. <u>Methods of deter-</u> mining reading readiness. New York: Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1939.

- Goodman, L. and Wiederholt, J.L. Predicting reading achievement in disadvantaged children. <u>Psychology in the</u> Schools, 1973, 10 (2), 181-185.
- Hammill, D. and Wiederholt, J.L. Appropriateness of the Metropolitan tests in an economically deprived urban neighborhood. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1971, <u>8</u> (1), 49-50.
- Hatcher, C.W. and Felker, D.W. The interrelationships of measures of convergent thinking, divergent thinking, and self concept to upper grade reading achievement. New Orleans, Louisiana: International Reading Association, 1974. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 092 883)
- Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc. <u>Manual of directions</u>, <u>Metropolitan achievement test</u>, Elementary Battery, 1971.
- Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc. <u>Manual of directions</u>, Metropolitan readiness test, Form A, 1965.
- Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Inc. Manual of directions, Otis-Lennon mental ability test, Form J, 1967.
- Harris, A.J. How to increase reading ability (5th ed.), New York: David McKay, 1974.
- Holmes, M.C. Investigation of reading readiness of first grade entrants. Childhood Education, 1927, 3, 215-221.
- Jackson, R.N. <u>A study of six personality factors in reading</u> <u>achievement</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State University, 1972. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 065 853)
- Jantz, R.K. The effects of sex, race, IQ, and SES on the reading scores of sixth graders for both levels and gains in performance. <u>Psychology in the Schools</u>, 1974, <u>11</u> (1), 90-94.
- Karlin, R. The prediction of reading success and reading readiness tests. <u>Elementary English</u>, 1957, <u>34</u>, 320-322.
- Kilpatrick, W.H. Foundations of method. New York: Mac-Millan, 1925.

Kingston, A.H., Jr. The relationship of first grade readiness to third and fourth grade achievement. Journal of Educational Research, 1962, <u>56</u>, 61-67.

- Livo, N.J. Reading readiness factors and beginning reading success. The Reading Teacher, 1970, 24, 124-129.
- Lowell, R.E. Reading readiness factors as predictors of success in first grade reading. Journal of Learning <u>Disabilities</u>, 1971, 4, 563-567.
- McCall, R.A. and McCall, R.B. A comparison of first grade reading tests. <u>Illinois School Research</u>, 1965, <u>2</u>, 32-37.
- McGraw, M.B. <u>Growth: a study of Johnny and Jimmy</u>. New York: D. Appleton Century, 1935.
- Mitchell, B.C. The Metropolitan readiness tests as predictors of first grade achievement. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1962, 22 (4), 765-772.
- Mitchell, B.C. Predictive validity of the Metropolitan readiness tests and the Murphy-Durrell reading readiness analysis for white and Negro pupils. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1967, 27, 1047-1054.
- Morphett, M.V. and Washburne, C. When should children begin to read? Elementary School Journal, 1931, 31, 496-503.
- Morrison, J.B., Jr. The prediction of reading achievement in grade one. (Doctoral dissertation, Boston University School of Education, 1972). <u>Dissertation Abstracts</u> <u>International</u>, 1972, <u>33</u>, 1325A.
- Olson, A.V. and Rosen, C.L. <u>Exploration of the structure</u> of selected reading readiness tests. 1971. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 044 448)
- Panther, E.E. Prediction of first grade reading achievement. The Elementary School Journal, 1967, 68, 44-48.
- Pikulski, J. Predicting sixth grade achievement by first grade scores. Reading Teacher, 1973, 27, 284-287.
- Proger, B.B., McGowan, J.R., Bayuk, R.J., Jr., and Mann, L. The relative predictive and construct validities of the Otis-Lennon mental ability test, the Lorge-Thorndike intelligence test, and the Metropolitan readiness test in grades two and four: a series of multivariate analyses. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 1971, 32, 529-538.
- Robinson, H.A. and Hanson, E. Reliability of measures of reading achievement. <u>The Reading Teacher</u>, 1968, <u>21</u>, 307-313; 323.

- Rude,R.T. Readiness tests: implications for early childhood education. <u>The Reading Teacher</u>, 1973, <u>26</u>, 572-577.
- Schrader, G.A. <u>A preliminary study of the Jefferson County</u> <u>schools' readiness test for beginners</u>. Unpublished field study University of Louisville, 1962.
- Shea, C.A. Visual discrimination of words and reading readiness. <u>The Reading Teacher</u>, 1968, <u>21</u>, 361-367.
- Thorndike, R.L. and Hagen, E. <u>Measurement and evaluation in</u> <u>psychology and education</u>. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1961.
- Tinker, M.A. <u>Teaching elementary reading</u>. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1952.
- Travers, R.M.V. Significant research on prediction of academic success. In Donahue, W.T., Coombs, C.H. and Travers, R.M.V. <u>The measurement of student</u> <u>adjustment and achievement</u>. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press, 1949, 147-190.
- Tyler, L.E. The psychology of human differences. New York: Appleton, 1956.
- Weintraub, S. Reading measures for predicting reading achievement. <u>The Reading Teacher</u>, 1967, <u>20</u>, 551-558.
- White, S.A., Stratton, S., and Miller, L. A comparison of head start and kindergarten children on readiness for first grade work. <u>Presentation at Southeastern</u> <u>Psychological Association Meeting</u>, 1970.
- Zaruba, E.A. Objective and subjective evaluation at grade one. The Reading Teacher, 1968, 22, 50-54.